

# Utilizaion of low temperature waste heat at Eramet Norway Kvinesdal

Fredrik Haukeland

### SUPERVISOR

Souman Rudra

University of Agder, 2020 Faculty of Engineering and Science Department of Engineering Sciences

### Abstract

With the increasing energy demand worldwide, it is essential to utilize the energy available to the fullest, not unnecessarily letting energy be wasted. Eramet Norway Kvinesdal is a manganese alloy producer, and they require a lot of energy for their processes. Several production steps lead to waste heat, and investigation regarding their suitability for utilization was made. Filtered sludge water from the cleaning of oven gas was considered to be a viable waste heat source. With its low temperature, two utilization purposes seemed applicable, floor heating and snow/ice melting. Four scenarios were investigated as to how much heat energy that could be utilized. Fluid analysis was based on element concentration in the water, and approximate calculations were done with the little information available. Although the presence of metals was more significant than that of the nearby river water, the calculations made showed that due to the filtration steps, the water characteristics are quite similar to that of normal water. Furthermore, the output potential for the fluid stream was calculated. A plate heat exchanger was looked into as a possible installment to extract the waste heat and calculations regarding flow characteristics, plate gaps, and pressure drop were completed for four different size heat exchangers. The results showed that scenario 1, where the waste heat is used for floor heating, is the most applicable solution, especially in regard to frequent use and energy saving. Size 2 and size 3 heat exchangers with plate gaps of 2-2,5 mm were recommended to maintain sufficient velocities and heat transfer while avoiding rapid fouling and clogging.

ii

### Preface

This is the master thesis at the end of my studies in the master program Renewable Energy at University of Agder. As there is a growing demand on power in the world, more focus is being placed at utilizing the energy already consumed fully. This project therefore caught my interest, as a possibility to find and make use of energy that otherwise would have gone to waste. My bachelor degree is in Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning, and such it was for me interesting to see if waste heat can be used for any of those applications. Due to the covid-19 world wide pandemic, visiting and closely working together with the company were sadly not possible. Measurements and analyses that should have been completed, were thus not done, and assumptions and simplification had to be made instead. This have lowered the depth and quality of the thesis. Therefore some results may turn out to be unrealistic for the application at site due to these uncertainties. Nevertheless i would like to thank my supervisor professor Souman Rudra for guiding me throughout the thesis, and also Stine Skagestad, technical manager at Eramet Norway Kvinesdal, for providing me with the information needed and being encouraging for the project.

Fredrik Haukeland

Fredrik Haukeland

University of Agder, Grimstad, June 21, 2020

iv

# Individual/group Mandatory Declaration

The individual student or group of students is responsible for the use of legal tools, guidelines for using these and rules on source usage. The statement will make the students aware of their responsibilities and the consequences of cheating. Missing statement does not release students from their responsibility.

1	I/We hereby declare that my/our report is my/our own work and that I/We have	
1.	1/ we hereby declare that my/our report is my/our own work and that 1/ we have	
	not used any other sources or have received any other help than mentioned in	
	the report.	
2.	I/we further declare that this report:	$\boxtimes$
	<ul> <li>has not been used for another exam at another department/university/ university college in Norway or abroad;</li> </ul>	
	- does not refer to the work of others without it being stated;	
	- does not refer to own previous work without it being stated;	
	- have all the references given in the literature list;	
	- is not a copy, duplicate or copy of another's work or manuscript.	
3.	I/we am/are aware that violation of the above is regarded as cheating and may	
	result in cancellation of exams and exclusion from universities and colleges in	
	Norway, see Universitets- og høgskoleloven §§ 4-7 og 4-8 og Forskrift om eksamen	
	§§ 31.	
4.	I/we am/are aware that all submitted reports may be checked for plagiarism.	
5.	I/we am/are aware that the University of Agder will deal with all cases where	
	there is suspicion of cheating according to the university's guidelines for dealing	
	with cases of cheating.	
6.	I/we have incorporated the rules and guidelines in the use of sources and refer-	
	ences on the library's web pages.	
	· • • • •	

vi

# Publishing Agreement

Authorization for electronic publishing of the report.			
Author(s) have copyrights of the report. This means, among other things, the exclusive right to make the work available to the general public (Åndsverkloven. § 2).			
All theses that fulfill the criteria will be registered and published in Brage Aura and on UiA's web pages with author's approval.			
Reports that are not public or are confidential will not be published.			
I hereby give the University of Agder a free right to			
make the task available for electronic publishing:	⊠ JA	□ NEI	
Is the report confidential?	⊠ JA	□ NEI	
(confidential agreement is for a period of one year and must be completed Head of the Department)	and sign	ned by the	
- If yes:			
Can the report be published when the confidentiality period is over?	⊠ JA	D NEI	
Is the task except for public disclosure? (contains confidential information. see Offl. § 13/Fvl. § 13)	□ JA	⊠ NEI	

# Contents

$\mathbf{A}$	bstra	$\mathbf{ct}$	i
Pı	refac	e	iii
In	divio	lual/group Mandatory Declaration	v
Ρı	ublis	hing Agreement	vii
C	onter	nts	ix
Li	st of	Figures x	iii
Li	st of	Tables	κv
N	otati	on xv	vii
$\mathbf{A}$	bbre	viation x	xi
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Background and motivation	1
	1.2	Objective and research questions	2
	1.3	Limitations and assumptions	2
	1.4	Structure of the report	3
<b>2</b>	Rev	view of Literature	5
	2.1	Overview of industrial waste heat	5
		2.1.1 Fluid characteristics	6
	2.2	Heat exchanger consideration	6
		2.2.1 Plate heat exchanger	7

3	Existing waste heat sources at Eramet Norway Kvinesdal		9
	3.1	Heat from Slag in piles	9
	3.2	Cooling of metal in molds	9
	3.3	Cooling of metal on the floor in the oven hall	9
	3.4	Dust filtered exhaust-air from smoke cleaning facility	10
	3.5	Oven gas before scrubbers in cleaning facility	10
	3.6	Sludge water from cleaning of oven gas	10
	3.7	Smoke gas from combustion in gas boiler	11
	3.8	Flush water tapped from gas boiler	11
	3.9	Waste heat comparison	11
4	The	eory	13
	4.1	Heat exchangers	13
		4.1.1 Shell and tube heat exchanger	13
		4.1.2 Plate heat exchanger	14
	4.2	Heat transfer	16
		4.2.1 Methods of heat transfer	17
		4.2.2 Logarithmic mean temperature difference	17
		4.2.3 Overall heat transfer coefficient	19
	4.3	Fouling	20
	4.4	Dimensionless numbers	21
	4.5	Pressure drop	22
	4.6	Economy	23
	4.7	Sand filters	23
	4.8	Carbon filters	23
5	Me	thods	25
	5.1	Selection of waste heat source	25
		5.1.1 Heat from slag in piles	25
		5.1.2 Cooling of metal in molds	25
		5.1.3 Cooling of metal on floor in oven hall	26
		5.1.4 Dust filtered exhaust-air from smoke cleaning facility	26

		5.1.5	Oven gas before scrubbers in the cleaning facility	26
		5.1.6	Sludge water from cleaning of the oven gas	26
		5.1.7	Smoke gas from combustion in gas boiler	27
		5.1.8	Flush water tapped from gas boiler	27
		5.1.9	Conclusion of the waste heat source selection $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	27
	5.2	Waste	heat utilization	28
	5.3	Sludge	e water from cleaning of oven gas	29
		5.3.1	Heat transfer	30
		5.3.2	Logarithmic mean temperature	31
		5.3.3	Heat transfer Area	31
		5.3.4	Number of plates	31
		5.3.5	Reynolds and Prandtl numbers	33
		5.3.6	Overall and convective heat transfer coefficient	34
		5.3.7	Pressure drop	35
C	Dee	14	d Disquesion	37
n	RDG	IIITS ar		
0	Res	Sludge	a water from cleaning of oven gas	37
0	<b>Res</b> 6.1	Sludge	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37
0	6.1	Sludge 6.1.1	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 37
0	6.1	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 30
0	6.1	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 41 42
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 42 43
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 42 43 44
0	6.1 6.2	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 41 42 43 44 46
0	6.1 6.2 6.3	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 Scenar	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 41 42 43 44 46 46
0	<ul> <li>6.1</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> </ul>	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 Scenar Scenar	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 41 42 43 44 46 46 46 47
0	<ul> <li>6.1</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> <li>6.5</li> </ul>	Sludge 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 Scenar 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 Scenar Scenar Scenar	e water from cleaning of oven gas	37 37 38 39 41 41 41 41 42 43 44 46 46 47 47

7	Conclusion		49	)				
8	3 Further Research							
Bi	Bibliography		53					
Aŗ	Appendix A Scena	arios	59					
	A.1 Scenario 2		59	1				
	A.2 Scenario 3		63					
	A.3 Scenario 4		66	,				

# List of Figures

3.1	Temperatures of the waste heat sources	12
3.2	Energy in the waste heat sources	12
4.1	Shell and tube heat exchanger	14
4.2	Plate heat exchanger	15
4.3	Different plate designs. (a) washboard, (b) zigzag, (c) chevron or herringbone, (d) protrusions and depressions, (e) washboard with secondary corrugations, (f) oblique washboard	16
4.4		10
4.4	Temperature development counter-flow and parallel-flow	18
4.5	Correction factor LMTD	19
4.6	Heat transfer and temperature changes through a pipe wall	20
4.7	Constants for heat transfer and pressure for different chevron angles $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	22
5.1	Design method PHE flow chart	29
5.2	Parameters of a chevron plate	32
6.1	Temperature development scenario 1 and 2	39
6.2	Temperature development scenario 3 and 4	40
6.3	Required surface area scenario 1	41
6.4	Number of plates for scenario 1	42
6.5	Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 1	42
6.6	Velocities fluid 1	43
6.7	Velocities fluid 2	43
6.8	Total pressure drop fluid 1	44
6.9	Total Pressure drop fluid 2	44
6.10	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1	45

6.11	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2	45
A.1	Required surface area scenario 2	59
A.2	Number of plates for scenario 2	59
A.3	Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 2	60
A.4	Velocities fluid 1 scenario 2	60
A.5	Velocities fluid 2 scenario 2	60
A.6	Total pressure drop fluid 1 scenario 2	61
A.7	Total Pressure drop fluid 2 scenario 2	61
A.8	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1 scenario 2	61
A.9	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2 scenario 2	62
A.10	Required surface area scenario 3	63
A.11	Number of plates for scenario 3	63
A.12	Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 3	63
A.13	Velocities fluid 1 scenario 3	64
A.14	Velocities fluid 2 scenario 3	64
A.15	Total pressure drop fluid 1 scenario 3	64
A.16	Total Pressure drop fluid 2 scenario 3	65
A.17	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1 scenario 3	65
A.18	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2 scenario 3	65
A.19	Required surface area scenario 4	66
A.20	Number of plates for scenario 4	66
A.21	Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 4	66
A.22	Velocities fluid 1 scenario 4	67
A.23	Velocities fluid 2 scenario 4	67
A.24	Total pressure drop fluid 1 scenario 4	67
A.25	Total Pressure drop fluid 2 scenario 4	68
A.26	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1 scenario 4	68
A.27	Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2 scenario 4	68

# List of Tables

5.1	Suggestive temperatures for possible applications	25
5.2	Heat demand scenarios 1-4	28
5.3	Heat exchanger plate dimensions	32
6.1	Ratio of element concentration fluid1/fluid2	37
6.2	Fluid 1 properties	38
6.3	Energy potential filtered sludge water	38
6.4	Inlet and outlet temperatures for the fluids	39
6.5	Energy potential filtered sludge water	40
6.6	Recommended heat exchangers for scenario 1	48

## Notation

- $\beta$  Chevron plate angle, [°]
- $\Delta P_c$  Channel pressure drop, [Pa]
- $\Delta P_p$  Port pressure drop, [Pa]
- $\Delta P_t$  Total pressure drop, [Pa]
- $\Delta T$  Temperature difference, [K]
- $\dot{m}$  mass flow, [kg/s]
- $\dot{V}$  Volume flow,  $[\dot{V}]$
- $\mu$  Viscosity,  $[kg/(m \cdot s)]$
- $\mu_f$  Viscosity of fluid containing elements,  $[kg/(m \cdot s)]$
- $\mu_w$  Viscosity of fluid at wall temperature,  $[kg/(m \cdot s)]$
- $\mu_{mix}$  Viscosity of fluid mixture,  $[kg/(m \cdot s)]$
- $\Phi$  Volume fraction

 $\rho$  Density,  $[kg/m^3]$ 

A Heat transfer surface area,  $[m^2]$ 

 $A_p$  Area of a plate,  $[m^2]$ 

- $C_h$  Constant to calculate Nusselt number
- $C_p$  Specific heat capacity,  $[kJ/(kg \cdot K)]$
- $d_c$  Cross section of channel,  $[m^2$
- $d_h$  Hydraulic diameter, [m]
- $d_m$  Distance temperature travels in a material, [m]

 $D_p$  Port diameter, [m]

F Correction factor LMTD

- f Friction factor for pressure calculations
- $G_c$  Fluid mass velocity in channels,  $[kg/(m^2 \cdot s)]$
- $G_p$  Fluid mass velocity through ports,  $[kg/(m^2 \cdot s)]$
- h Convective heat transfer coefficient,  $[W/(m^2 \cdot K)]$
- k Thermal conductivity,  $[W/(m \cdot K)]$
- $k_f$  Thermal conductivity of the fluid,  $[W/(m \cdot K)]$
- $k_p$  Thermal conductivity of the particles,  $[W/(m \cdot K)]$
- $k_{mix}$  Thermal conductivity of the mixture,  $[W/(m \cdot K)]$
- $L_h$  Horizontal port distance, [m]

 $L_p$  Plate length, [m]

- $L_v$  Vertical port distance, [m]
- m Mass of a material, element or fluid, [kg]
- *n* Constant to calculate Nusselt number
- $N_c$  Number of channels
- $N_cc$  Number of channels cold fluid
- $N_ch$  Number of channels hot fluid
- $N_p$  Number of plates
- $N_p a$  Number of passes
- Nu Nusselt Number
- Pr Prandtl number
- Q Heat transfer rate, [kW]
- $R_f$  Fouling resistance of the fluid,  $[m^2 \cdot K/W]$
- *Re* Reynolds number
- s Plate spacing, [m]
- $t_i$  Inlet temperature, [°C]
- $t_o$  Outlet temperature, [°C]
- $t_p$  Plate thickness, [m]
- $T_{c,i}$  Inlet temperature cold fluid, [°C]

- $T_{c,o}$  Outlet temperature cold fluid, [°C]
- $T_{h,i}$  Inlet temperature hot fluid, [°C]
- $T_{h,o}$  Outlet temperature hot fluid, [°C]
- U Overall heat transfer coefficient,  $[kW/(m^2 \cdot K)]$

u Velocity, m/s

- $U_0$  Calculated overall heat transfer coefficient,  $[kW/(m^2 \cdot K)]$
- $u_c$  Velocity in channels, m/s
- $U_{est}$  Estimated overall heat transfer coefficient,  $[kW/(m^2 \cdot K)]$
- $W_p$  Plate width, [m]

## Abbreviation

**CFD** Computational Fluid Dynamics.

**CHTC** Convective Heat Transfer Coefficient.

 ${\bf ENK}\,$  Eramet Norway Kvinesdal.

 ${\bf GAC}\,$  Granular Activated Carbon.

HTA Heat Transfer Area.

 ${\bf LMTD}\,$  Logarithmic Mean Temperature Difference.

**NTU** Number of Transferred Units.

**OHTC** Overall Heat Transfer Coefficient.

PAH Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon.

**PHE** Plate Heat Exchanger.

**SHC** Specific Heat Capacity.

## 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Background and motivation

There is a growing focus on energy efficiency due to the increase of climate gases in the atmosphere. The industry, in particular, has a large consumption of energy for its processes, one-third of the world's energy consumption, as reported by the International Energy Agency [1]. On top of that, they report that the industry is the source of 36% of the world's  $CO_2$ emissions. However, all the energy is not fully used in the processes, much of it is released into the environment. [2] estimated that 72% of energy in most common sectors is lost.

While trying to achieve a reduction in energy consumption, the demand is ever-growing. Since 1971 the energy consumption from the industry has increased by 61% in 2004 [1]. This is greatly due to the industrialization of underdeveloped countries. Therefore it is all the more reason to achieve energy-efficient processes. If the Paris Agreement's goal is to be kept, keeping the global mean temperature change below 2 degrees above the pre-industrial temperature, utilization of waste heat is a crucial step to take [2].

Utilization of waste heat energy can mainly be used by either changing into other forms of energy, mechanical and electrical, or transfer the heat to another medium. Power cycles such as the organic Rankine cycle and turbines are typical examples of converting the energy, while heat exchangers are a classic example of keeping the energy as heat energy. Therefore [3] categorized it as indirect and direct recovery methods.

In the metal industry, it is often desirable to melt the metal into liquid form, which usually requires high temperatures. However, like most processes, a complete transfer of all energy is almost impossible to achieve, and in such instances, the amount of energy going to waste can be incredibly high. In each process step, energy may be lost along the way, most of this in the form of thermal energy. The utilization of waste heat energy would reduce overall energy consumption.

Eramet Norway Kvinesdal, ENK, is a world leading producer of manganese alloys. The factory is located in the south of Norway, in a low populated area called Kvinesdal. They require a considerable amount of energy for their processes, and waste heat sources occur in several areas. Utilization of these may reduce the overall energy consumption at the factory. Some applications for the waste heat have already been applied, including a steam turbine, hot water for aquaculture, and a low-temperature district heating for nearby buildings.

#### **1.2** Objective and research questions

The main objective of this study is formulated as follows:

• Utilize a waste heat source for an application at Eramet Norway Kvinesdal and consider its feasibility.

Eramet Norway desires to reduce the amount of energy that is going to waste at the factory in Kvinesdal. Utilizing waste heat can supply other applications and their demands, reducing the need to extract energy for isolated purposes. Overall energy consumption may then be reduced. District heating based on some of the waste heat sources has already been installed. For the time being, it does not seem feasible to expand this system due to the low population and infrastructure in the area. Thus other solutions must be considered. To achieve the objective, some research questions have been made. By answering these research questions, a conclusion may be given regarding the viability of the waste heat source, and if it is worth pursuing. The research questions are as follows:

- Which waste heat sources at Eramet Norway Kvinesdal can be utilized?
- For which purposes can the recovered waste heat be utilized?
- How can the waste heat be extracted?
- Is it feasible to implement?

#### 1.3 Limitations and assumptions

In order to properly fulfill the study's objectives, visit and a prolonged working stay at ENK was planned. Solutions could then be based on some of their experience and attempts at waste heat utilization. It would ensure the solutions to be even more case specific for their use. However, due to the covid-19 worldwide pandemic, this was not possible, and close cooperation became challenging. Therefore, simplifications and assumptions had to be made were measurements and inspection were no longer possible.

The determination of fluid flow characteristics and the heat exchanger operation and performance were done by calculations. An in depth analysis of computer programs is required to give more realistic results of how the system operates. The calculations made will, however, give an idea of the operation and performance of the heat exchanger and the potential of the waste heat source.

#### 1.4 Structure of the report

The structure of this report is organized accordingly. First, there is a literature review investigating what other studies have done that could be useful for this study. The review includes waste heat categorization, heat exchanger consideration, water filtration, and fluid analysis.

Secondly, the theory necessary to fulfill the task is presented. The theory includes an introduction to standard heat exchangers, methods of heat transfer, fouling, pressure, and filters. Afterward, the method is presented considering waste heat sources, categorizing utilization scenarios, and calculating fluid characteristics and plate heat exchanger, PHE.

Then results and discussion will be presented together. Here fluid properties are determined, along with the potential heat transfer. Results for each scenario are then presented and discussed before they are compared and considered. Lastly, a conclusion to sum up the findings of the study, followed by further research.



### 2 Review of Literature

#### 2.1 Overview of industrial waste heat

Waste energy can be divided into categories: combustible(fuel), thermal(heat), and excess pressure. A combination of these is also possible [4]. Thermal energy, referred to as waste heat, can be categorized further into different temperature ranges. These temperature ranges are often divided into high, medium, and low, as categorized by [5]. For this paper, two further categories will be used, ultra-high and ultra-low, similar to [6]. Categories will be as follows:

- Ultra-high: 870°C and above
- High: Between 650°C and 870°C
- Medium: Between 230°C and 650°C
- Low: Between  $120^{\circ}$ C and  $230^{\circ}$ C
- Ultra-low; 120°C and below

The potential of utilizing waste heat is hugely dependant on the temperature difference, the more substantial difference, the better. A large part of the waste heat from industry, somewhere between 60% and 66%, is what can be categorized as low and ultra-low temperature waste heat [5, 7, 8]. A considerable amount of this is in the ultra-low temperature range. On top of that, another large portion of this is between 30 and 40 °C [9]. Due to the low temperature, the application is limited, especially during the summer. Heat pumps may be an alternative to boost the quality of heat energy extracted.

Characteristics of waste heat can vary greatly from process to process, where some are easier to utilize than others. Some processes may have its waste heat source as clean water, where others are dirty and contaminated. [6] have made a classification of waste heat categories, differentiates waste heat sources, and their level of contamination referred to as waste heat in harsh environments. Among these were flue gases containing combustible, corrosive, and greenhouse gases. Waste heat sources containing byproducts such as solids and sludge were also considered among the harsh environments.

#### 2.1.1 Fluid characteristics

Waste heat sources often contain a lot of impurities, and measures into making them more applicable may be needed. [10] studied the effectiveness of a combination of filters at a landfill leachates. They concluded that a combination of filters was necessary to remove a wide variety of particles. Sand filters removed larger particles, making it a recommended first filter option, increasing the effectiveness of other filters. Furthermore, peat could remove more of PHC's, DEHP, and oxy-PAH. Granular Activated Carbon, GAC, was the most effective filter to remove most particles, in particular PAH, and was therefore recommended to have last among the combination of filters.

[11] compared different models for determining the viscosity of nanofluids. They concluded that Peng-Robinson and Esmaeilzadeh-Roshanfekr equations gave all over more accuracy of viscosity estimations than older models such as Einstein and Brinkman. However, the difference was smaller at lower concentrations and particle sizes. [12] investigated the viscosity of sludge water on a membrane bioreactor. The concentration of suspended solids in their water was between  $5,23 \ g/L$  and  $14,10 \ g/L$ . Viscosity varied between  $0,0024 \ kg/m \cdot s$  and  $0,03 \ kg/m \cdot s$ , dependent on the temperature and concentration of solids. It was observed that when the viscosity was above  $0,02 \ kg/ms$ , the membrane bioreactor started to clog.

Thermal conductivity and viscosity were studied for 1-4% of bentonite in nanofluids by [13]. They observed that the thermal conductivity increased as the particle concentration of bentonite was increased, and as expected, so did the viscosity. Others have studied nanofluids, and their increased thermal conductivity, among those is [14], who reports a 60% increase in thermal conductivity of water containing 5% copper oxide particles. [15] demonstrated that for nanofluids, theoretical models gave lower values for thermal conductivity than the measured data. They also experienced that a decrease in particle size gave an increase in thermal conductivity.

#### 2.2 Heat exchanger consideration

[16] compared a shell and tube heat exchanger with a plate fin heat exchanger. The paper was about fuel savings on a coffee roasting plant. A numerical analysis of the efficiency was used, with computational fluid dynamics, CFD, as a tool. Analysis with different designs was done for size, baffles, and length of tubes. In their study, the performance of the shell and tube heat exchanger gave slightly better results. However, the size of the plate fin heat exchanger was approximately ten times smaller. The pressure loss in the heat exchanges was almost similar. Therefore, by increasing the plate fin heat exchanger size slightly, that option would be the most beneficial regarding available space at the coffee plant.

[17] compared different types of heat exchangers and to which extent they were affected by fouling. A table is presented, where the PHE performs quite well compared to the other types of heat exchangers, especially the shell and tube. Although different techniques for mitigation and removal of fouling have been investigated over the years, fouling remains among the major unresolved problems in thermal science to this day.

#### 2.2.1 Plate heat exchanger

[18] studied the PHE, its construction, and its operation. Comparison with the shell and tube heat exchanger was made, concluding that the PHE performs excellently within its capability range, particularly for liquid/liquid duties.

[19] investigated the effect of plate spacing in a PHE. They concluded that when increasing the plate spacing, the necessary heat transfer area, HTA, increased as well, while the pressure drop was decreased. [20] also investigated the optimum plate spacing and compared it for counter flow and parallel flow. The results showed that the optimal plate spacing for a counter flow heat exchanger was lower of the two.

[21] compared different pressure drop calculations, and concluded that Mulley and Buonopane & Troupe correlations for friction factor to be the most realistic ones.



# 3 | Existing waste heat sources at Eramet Norway Kvinesdal

There are several waste heat sources at ENK, while some of them are already wholly or partly utilized, others are still untouched. Some of the promising waste heat sources that can yet be used are presented in this chapter.

#### 3.1 Heat from Slag in piles

Slag is a byproduct of metal production, and are regularly removed from the ovens at ENK. Straight out of the ovens, the slag has a temperature of up to 1500 °C. Extraction of slag from the ovens is not a continuous process, but rather in batches. Each oven has its bin where slag is being transported. There is already a solution in place to make use of some of the heat. Water is flushed over the slag piles to recover some of the heat. Some water evaporates, while a part of it is gathered in a storage tank, where it is used for district heating. However, this is only done for one of the three ovens.

#### **3.2** Cooling of metal in molds

When the metal is in liquid form, it is poured into flat molds where it is cooled down until they solidify. Straight after the metal is cast, it has a temperature of approximately 1300 °C. The metal is laying in the molds for about 30 minutes, until they reach a temperature of 890 °C. Each year it is produced on average 180.000 ton metal.

#### 3.3 Cooling of metal on the floor in the oven hall

After the metal has been cooled down to 890 °C, it is transported to the oven hall for further cooling and storage. The metal is added to the hall in different piles, as the metal is produced. There is still a lot of heat energy emitted from the metal as it cools down to room temperature. Some of the heat is going to the floor, while most of it dissipates upwards as radiation and convection heat.

#### 3.4 Dust filtered exhaust-air from smoke cleaning facility

Whenever metal is extracted from the ovens, a lot of dust particles occur in the air. The air is cleaned in a smoke cleaning facility before it exits through a large chimney. The air in the chimney has a temperature of 44 °C. Airflow is unknown and alternating, but 150.000  $m^3/h$  can be assumed. Ventilation above the molds is a part of this system.

#### 3.5 Oven gas before scrubbers in cleaning facility

From the chemical reactions in the ovens, Carbon monoxide(CO), Methane gas( $CH_4$ ), Hydrogen gas( $H_2$ ) as well as some other gases are produced. At the top of the ovens, there is a pipe where the gases exit through. The gas has very varying temperatures, between 200 °C and 800 °C, before it is cleaned in scrubbers. The temperature of the ovens differs. Oven 1 has an average temperature of 591 °C, oven 2 466 °C, and oven 3 504 °C. When all ovens are in full operation, a total of 19.000  $Nm^3/h$  air is going through. Depending on the ovens, the heat effect on this gas is varying a little bit.

#### 3.6 Sludge water from cleaning of oven gas

As the oven gas is full of various particles, the gas is cleaned in scrubbers. Cleaning happens in three steps. The first two steps are water from a sludge tank, while the third step is water from the PAH sand filters, which is cleaner. In the process, the sludge water absorbs some of the heat energy of the oven gas and gets a temperature of 73 °C. After leaving behind some of the impurities in a sludge tank, most of the water is going directly back to step one and two in the scrubbers. Excess water goes through additional cleaning in the PAH facility, where it is sent through sand filters. A portion of this is further cleaned in carbon filters before it is released to the sea. The water that goes through just the sand filters is at 56 °C with a mass flow of 163  $m^3/h$ . The portion of water going through all the cleaning steps has a temperature of 53 °C with a volume flow of 23  $m^3/h$ . These are logged yearly average values of 2014.

#### 3.7 Smoke gas from combustion in gas boiler

In the gas boiler, the oven gas is combusted, and in doing so, converting the gases through chemical reactions. The gas initially contains gases like Carbon monoxide (CO), Methane gas ( $CH_4$ ), and Hydrogen gas ( $H_2$ ), among other gases. The resulting smoke gas is mostly carbon dioxide( $CO_2$ ), nitrogen gas( $N_2$ ), and water steam( $H_2O$ ), although other gases are also present. Temperature is quite high, and as a result, it is already being used for some applications. Firstly it heats steam that is going to the turbines. Afterward, it heats water to the gas boiler feeding tank. When these processes have been completed, the smoke is at 110 °C, with an approximate volume flow of 46.000  $m^3/h$ . It is then sent to a mercury-cleaning facility, for later to be released into the environment.

#### 3.8 Flush water tapped from gas boiler

Flush water is tapped from a tank above the gas boiler, at around 100 °C. It is used to heat the inlet air to the gas boiler, and have a temperature of 70 °C afterward. During summer, it is brought out to the sea. Although the temperature is higher than some of the other waste heat sources, the flow is rather low, merely  $0.83 m^3/h$ .

#### 3.9 Waste heat comparison

Figure 3.1 shows the temperatures of each waste heat source presented. Four of the sources much larger temperatures than the four that are below 100 °C. Figure 3.1 shows the heat energy in each waste heat source in MW. Flush water tapped from the gas boiler is barely showing in the figure because the energy level is only 0,063MW. While some sources have much higher energy than others, it may be incredibly hard to extract. Take, for example, the heat from slag in piles. One third of this is tried utilized for district heating. With the solution at hand, only a mere 300 kW of the 3,6 MW is delivered. The temperature provided in the district heating is also much lower, somewhere in between 45-50 °C. The graphs presented are therefore not a good representation for which ones are the best, but rather a presentation of the energy that is present in some waste heat sources.





Figure 3.1: Temperatures of the waste heat sources



Figure 3.2: Energy in the waste heat sources
# $4 \mid \text{Theory}$

In this chapter theory needed to perform the necessary calculations and considerations is presented. This includes basics about heat exchangers, heat transfer, fouling, flow characteristics, pressure, and water filtration.

# 4.1 Heat exchangers

A heat exchanger transfers thermal energy from one fluid to a preferable fluid so it can more easily be utilized for heating/cooling purposes. There are many types of heat exchangers, where performance varies depending on the conditions. Primary criteria for selection of a heat exchangers are the type of fluids, temperature, pressure, mass flow, area footprint, and cost. [22] presents a table for the selection of heat exchanger in typical conditions. While the table gives a general idea of what is considered a suitable fit, it may not always be the case. In the table PHE is mentioned as a good fit for low viscosity fluids that are operating on low temperature and pressure. [23, 22, 17] all suggest that PHEs have a lower fouling rate than the commonly used shell and tube heat exchanger. At the same time, a PHE is simple to perform maintenance on, has a considerably lower footprint area, and is considered a cheaper investment cost than the shell and tube heat exchanger [24]. PHE works well with small temperature differences between the hot and cold fluid. ENK had previously installed a heat exchanger that turned out to require frequent maintenance, thus fouling is a central aspect to consider in the selection. A PHE may, in this case, be an adequate choice as a heat exchanger for the filtered sludge water at ENK. There are several types of heat exchangers, standard options are the shell and tube, which is the most common heat exchanger, PHE, and spiral heat exchanger.

#### 4.1.1 Shell and tube heat exchanger

The shell and tube heat exchanger consists of many small tubes, where one fluid passes through, encapsulated by a shell, where the other fluid flows, Figure 4.1. These types of heat exchangers can be configured in different ways. One way has the tubes in a U formation, a U-tube heat exchanger. Here the tubes have a bend inside the heat exchanger, so the fluid is entering and leaving the heat exchanger on the same side. Another type is straight tube heat exchanger, where the tubes are straight all the way through. Here the fluid is entering on one side and leaving on the other side of the heat exchanger. Such a heat exchanger is usually easier to clean. It can come in handy for fluids that tend to foul, leading to regular cleaning. Shell and tube heat exchangers are typically installed with baffles, with even spacing throughout the tube side. Baffles distribute fluid flow evenly in the tube, forcing the flow tog across instead of parallel to the tubes, promoting turbulence in the flow. Baffles improve the heat transfer rate. Unfortunately, these baffles can have an unwanted effect. Flow velocities may vary around the baffles, and stagnant areas may occur. Such areas are very susceptible to fouling [25, 26].



Figure 4.1: Shell and tube heat exchanger [27]

#### 4.1.2 Plate heat exchanger

PHE consists of thin plates in series where hot and cold fluid travel in channels transferring heat through the plates, Figure 4.2. It is generally a simple heat exchanger to deal with and works well with small temperature differences. It is easy to maintenance, repair, and due to its construction, it has the flexibility to increase/decrease heat transfer surface area [22, 28]. There are, in general, four types of PHE: gasketed, brazed, welded, and semi-welded. Welding the PHE will result in possibilities for higher pressure and reduced chance of leaking, but on the other hand, make it more complicated to do maintenance and reduce its flexibility [23]. Gasketed PHE is the most common one, and such PHE usually has operation limitations for temperature and pressure to be less than 160 °C and 25 *atm*, respectively [23]. Not complying with these limitations puts the PHE at high risk for leaking. Typical thickness of plates usually varies between 0,5 and 1,2 *mm*, with a gap of 1,5 to 5 *mm* [29, 18, 19, 20].





Figure 4.2: Plate heat exchanger [30]

As the plate material greatly affects the performance of the heat exchanger, it is the most important, but also the most expensive part of the PHE [23]. It is desired to find a material that can withstand fouling, such as corrosive resistant materials if corrosion is the case, while still maintaining high thermal conductivity. Being able to withstand the cleaning method is naturally an essential property as well. There are a wide variety of plate materials that can be picked, depending on the situation and use. Standard plate materials are corrosive resistant plates based on stainless steel, Hastelloy, and noncorrosive materials such as titanium alloys [29, 17, 18].

Gaskets are there to make a proper seal between the plates preventing leakage, and generally do not have any other significant function. Therefore, the selection of gaskets is mainly based on them being able to withstand temperature and pressure. Gaskets should also be compatible with the fluid, avoiding corrosion. Typical material of such gaskets are elastomers, such as bytul, nitrile, and silicone. The two first ones can be used for a wide range of organic materials and minerals, with a temperature range of 135 °C and 155 °C, respectively. Silicone gaskets can be used in more corrosive liquids, and function up to 180 °C [23, 18, 29].

The plates may be flat, although in most cases, they are corrugated. The corrugations alter both the HTA and the flow distribution. There are many different types of corrugations, and they may excel in different situations. Some of them are presented in Figure 4.3. The most commonly used design is the chevron plate [23, 21].



Figure 4.3: Different plate designs. (a) washboard, (b) zigzag, (c) chevron or herringbone, (d) protrusions and depressions, (e) washboard with secondary corrugations, (f) oblique washboard [23]

# 4.2 Heat transfer

The transfer rate, Q [kW], is how much heat energy can be transferred. Equation 4.1 is used to calculate how much heat can be transferred from a fluid.  $\dot{m}$  is the mass flow of the fluid [kg/s],  $C_p$  is the specific heat capacity, SHC, of the fluid [kJ/(kgK)], and  $\Delta T$  is the inlet and outlet temperature difference of the fluid [K].

$$Q = \dot{m} \cdot C_p \cdot \Delta T \tag{4.1}$$

Possible heat transfer through a heat exchanger is calculated by Equation 4.2. Where U is the overall heat transfer coefficient, OHTC  $[W/(m^2K)]$ , A is the required HTA  $[m^2]$ , and LMTD is the logarithmic mean temperature difference [K]. LMTD is dependent on a correction factor, F, which adjust for the heat exchanger characteristics.

$$Q = U \cdot A \cdot LMTD \cdot F \tag{4.2}$$

#### 4.2.1 Methods of heat transfer

Heat energy can be transferred in three ways, conduction, radiation, and convection. In a heat exchanger, convection and conduction are how most of the thermal energy is transferred. Conduction is the transfer of thermal energy through a material or from one material to another. Fourier's law, Equation 4.3, gives the rate at which thermal energy is transferred by conduction. Where k is the thermal conductivity of the material [W/mK], and  $d_m$  is the length of which the heat must travel through the material [m].

$$\frac{Q}{t} = \frac{k \cdot A \cdot \Delta T}{d_m} \tag{4.3}$$

Convection is the process where heat energy is transferred from a moving fluid to another material. It can, for example, be a stream of water flowing along on a piece of metal. Convection can happen by either forced or natural convection. Natural convection, or free convection, is when no external force is present, and the density difference due to temperature changes is controlling the flow. Forced convection is when a pump, fan, or a similar device controls the fluid movement over the HTA, typically in a pipe. The rate of heat transfer by convection can be calculated by Newton's law of cooling, Equation 4.4, where h is the convective heat transfer coefficient CHTC. This value is difficult to determine because its nature is dependent not only on the properties of the fluid but also on the situation. The geometry of the surface, fluid properties, and the nature of the flow of fluid are among the factors affecting the CHTC [31].

$$Q = h \cdot A \cdot \Delta T \tag{4.4}$$

A stagnant layer of fluid film is formed on the material surface, and heat transfer through this layer is happening by conductivity. Turbulent flow usually has a thinner film laminar flow, which is why the CHTC is affected by the nature of the flow. Turbulent flow also forces more of the bulk fluid towards the HTA, increasing heat transfer. The boundary layer is dependent on the viscosity of the fluid, and the type of flow, laminar or turbulent. Due to its difficulty in determining, data is often found empirically.

#### 4.2.2 Logarithmic mean temperature difference

The amount of heat energy available to transfer between two fluids or materials is dependent on the temperature difference. In a heat exchanger, the LMTD is used, Which is calculated by Equation 4.5.

$$LMTD = \frac{\Delta T_2 - \Delta T_1}{ln(\frac{\Delta T_2}{\Delta T_1})} \tag{4.5}$$

A heat exchanger is typically set up as counter-flow or parallel-flow. Counter-flow is when the inlet temperature of the hot fluid is on the same side as the outlet temperature of the cold fluid, Figure 4.4a. Parallel-flow is when inlet temperatures of both fluids are entering on the same side, Figure 4.4b.



(a) Temperature development counter-flow (b) Temperature development parallel-flow

Figure 4.4: Temperature development counter-flow and parallel-flow

In the Equation 4.5,  $\Delta T_1$  and  $\Delta T_2$  will differ when calculating for a counter flow or a parallel flow heat exchanger. Due to the nature of the calculations, the LMTD will always be higher for a counter-flow heat exchanger. The equation for heat transfer, Equation 4.2, shows that the larger the LMTD, the larger the heat transfer. Counter-flow heat exchangers are, therefore, more efficient. Equation 4.6 and Equation 4.7 is the calculation of the temperature differences for a counter-flow heat exchanger. Here  $T_{h,i}$  is the hot fluid inlet temperature [°C],  $T_{h,o}$  is the hot fluid outlet temperature [°C],  $T_{c,i}$  cold fluid inlet temperature [°C],  $T_{c,o}$  and cold fluid outlet temperature [°C].

$$\Delta T_1 = T_{h,i} - T_{c,o} \tag{4.6}$$

$$\Delta T_2 = T_{h,0} - T_{c,i} \tag{4.7}$$

LMTD method needs a correction factor, F. It is dependant on the geometry of the heat exchanger and the inlet and outlet temperatures of the fluid. The correction factor is to adjust for the departure of true counter-current flow. Its ideal value is therefore 1, where changes from this value are less than 1. A PHE with a single pass is considered as ideal, and the value will, therefore, be 1. However, because of the endplates only exchanging heat in one direction, it is a little bit less than 1. When the number of plates is above 40, the effect of the endplates is negligible [32]. A diagram like Figure 4.5 can find the correction factor. This diagram is for a PHE. The number of transferred units, NTU, is needed to use the chart, calculated by Equation 4.8 as well as the number of passes. In the equation  $t_o$  is the outlet temperature [°C] and  $t_i$  is the inlet temperature [°C] of the fluid. NTU is based on the fluid with the most considerable inlet/outlet temperature difference [33].





Figure 4.5: Correction factor LMTD [33]

$$NTU = \frac{t_o - t_i}{LMTD} \tag{4.8}$$

#### 4.2.3 Overall heat transfer coefficient

OHTC in a heat exchanger is a value of how much heat energy that can be transferred from one fluid to another, through a material. Additionally to temperature transfer trough the pipe wall, the temperature transfer must go trough a stagnant film layer and fouling layer on both sides. So, its a combination of convection and conduction, see Figure 4.6. Thus it is dependant on how much convective heat the fluids can transfer in the situation and the plate materials ability to transfer heat. It can be challenging to find the correct one. OHTC can be calculated with Equation 4.2. Usually, during the design phase of a heat exchanger, neither the U nor Ais known. An estimated U-value can be found with the help of tables for typical U-values for conventional heat exchangers and fluids [34]. Although this will not give an exact U-value, it will provide an idea of how the heat exchanger will perform. A more complicated method of finding the U-value is by studying each flow thoroughly, including calculations of convection heat transfers of each fluid.



Figure 4.6: Heat transfer and temperature changes through a pipe wall

# 4.3 Fouling

Fouling can be defined as the deposition of unwanted materials on HTAs. There are different types of fouling, some of the common ones include scaling, growth of algae, particle deposition, corrosion, flocculation, and aggregation. Fouling reduces overall heat transfer but also increases pressure drop due to disruption in fluid flow and narrower flow channels. Fouling produces a layer on top of the HTA. Heat must, therefore, be transferred through the fouling layer by means of conductivity. The thickness and conductivity of the fouling layer are usually unknown, and a fouling factor is therefore used to account for the additional thermal resistance [35, 17]. In some cases, these factors are exaggerated to take into account unforeseen factors that may reduce the transfer capability of the heat exchangers.

As the type of fouling can differ substantially, the measures taken to reduce it will vary depending on the given situation. Generally, high turbulence and velocities, in addition to avoiding areas of stagnant fluid, have a positive effect on the fouling, and smooth surfaces and uniform fluid flow. From a design perspective, typical factors that need to be considered are additional heat transfer surface, additional pressure drop, suitable materials, and easy access cleaning [17]. Depending on the type of fouling, different surface treatment and coatings can be utilized, for example, ultraviolet, acoustic, and electric. If, for instance, biofouling is expected, the use of copper alloys may be implemented, as they are poisonous to some organisms. However, such a solution may not necessarily be suitable, as it can cause increased wear on the system equipment. Also, as it is poisonous to organisms, disposal in the environment is not possible. Some fouling problems may be unpredictable [17].

The rate at which fouling occur is also variable and must be considered in terms of the cleaning frequency of heat exchangers. Cleaning of the heat exchangers is paramount to maintain an acceptable performance level. Cleaning is usually separated into two categories, mechanical and chemical. Mechanical cleaning can be scraping of the surface and pressurized air, and is generally more environmentally friendly, although it might damage the equipment. Examples of chemical cleaning are acids, solvents, and detergents. Cleaning products can be challenging to dispose of due to environmental aspects. The cleaning method depends on the equipment and fouling type. Fouling factors usually are 20-25% compared to the shell and tube heat exchanger due to ease of cleaning and no stagnant areas [17].

# 4.4 Dimensionless numbers

Reynolds number is a value to describe the flow characteristics of a fluid, if its turbulent, laminar, or transition flow, Equation 4.9.  $\rho$  is the density of the fluid  $[kg/m^3]$ , u is the velocity [m/s],  $d_h$  is the hydraulic diameter [m] and  $\mu$  is the viscosity of the fluid [kg/ms]. As seen in the formula, the higher the velocity, the higher the turbulence. The viscosity of fluids is decreasing as the velocity goes up, which enhances the turbulence effect. Higher viscosity gives higher pressure drop and lowers the Reynolds number. Too high viscosity may, therefore, cause the flow to be laminar. For pipes, it is generally accepted that for Reynolds numbers less than 2100, the flow is laminar, while above 4000, it is turbulent. In between these, there is a transition flow. In PHE, turbulent flow can occur at smaller Reynolds number values. Some say the turbulent flow can occur at smaller Reynolds number. Another dimensionless characteristic of a fluid is the Prandtl number, which gives an idea of the fluids ability to transfer heat, Equation 4.10, where k is the thermal conductivity of the fluid  $[W/m^2K]$ .

$$Re = \frac{\rho \cdot u \cdot d_h}{\mu} \tag{4.9}$$

$$Pr = \frac{C_p \cdot \mu}{k} \tag{4.10}$$

Nusselt number is calculated by Equation 4.11. However, in most cases, h is unknown, as this is a value that changes depending on the situation. Alterations of the Nusselt number formula has therefore been made to find the CHTC. Modifications are based on fluid characteristics and its motion, and the Reynolds number and Prandtl number is consequently used. However, these alterations vary in the literature. [23] use a Nusselt number equation where the values are dependent on the angles on the chevron plate, and the Reynolds number, Figure 4.7. For chevron plates with 30 degrees or less angle, it is only differentiated for over and under Reynolds numbers

10. Chevron angles larger than this have specified a transition area, for example between, 10 and 100. It seems then that with 30 degrees or lower chevron angles, a transition phase between laminar and turbulent is negligible. Also, as the Reynolds number is specified as little as 10, it seems that this sort of chevron plates turbulent flow is almost always the case. [18] states that for 30-degree angles on the chevron plate, laminar flow will only occur below Reynolds number 10. Additionally, the formula is only accurate to +-20%. [32] uses the same table and equation, which originates from [18]. The values m, n, and  $C_h$  are constants and are empirical values dependent on chevron angle and Reynolds number. Depending on the chevron plate, turbulent flow in PHE usually occurs from 100-400 Reynolds numbers, which corresponds with values in the table [36].

0	Heat transfer			Pressure drop		
P	Re	$C_h$	n	Re	K <sub>p</sub>	m
≤ 30°	≤ 10	0.718	0.349	≤ 10	50.000	1.000
	> 10	0.348	0.663	10 - 100	19.400	0.589
				> 100	2.990	0.183
	< 10	0.718	0.349	< 15	47.000	1.000
45°	10 - 100	0.400	0.59 <mark>8</mark>	15 - 300	18.290	0.652
	> 100	0.300	0.663	> 300	1.441	0.206
50 °	< 20	0.630	0.333	< 20	34.000	1.000
	20 - 300	0.291	0.591	20 - 300	<b>11.25</b> 0	0.631
	> 300	0.130	0.732	> 300	0.772	0.161
60°	< 20	0.562	0.326	< 40	24.000	1.000
	20 - 200	0.306	0.529	40 - 00	3.240	0.457
	> 400	0.108	0.703	> 400	0.760	0.215
≥ 65 °	< 20	0.562	0.326	< 50	24.000	1.000
	20 - 500	0.331	0.503	50 - 500	2.800	0.451
	> 500	0.087	0.718	> 500	0.639	0.213

$$Nu = \frac{h \cdot d_h}{k} \tag{4.11}$$

Figure 4.7: Constants for heat transfer and pressure for different chevron angles [23]

# 4.5 Pressure drop

Pressure drop in heat exchangers is naturally desired to keep low, avoiding unnecessarily large and expensive pumps. The pressure drop is due to several reasons. Velocity and geometry of the heat exchanger are two contributors that affect the pressure drop. When the velocity of the fluid increase, the pressure drop rises as well. Narrow channels or pipes can be a reason velocities are high, and thus the pressure drop. Turns and elements such as baffles which force the fluid to change direction is a contributor as well. Extensive fouling is, of course affecting the pressure drop and needs to be dealt with appropriately before the pressure drop is too high. Sometimes it is recommended to design the heat exchanger with minimum shear stress, to account for fouling occurrence. When fouling occurs, the pressure is sufficiently high enough to keep operating the heat exchanger [37]. In some cases, the pressure drop is not only limited by the pump, but also by the fluids. If the total pressure drops to low, fluids may undesirably evaporate at low pressure.

# 4.6 Economy

The cost of a heat exchanger is mainly divided up into two categories, manufacturing cost, and operating cost. In most cases, the less complicating and the smaller the design, the cheaper the manufacturing cost will be. Operating cost is the cost of pumping the fluids through the heat exchanger, but it also includes the cost of maintenance. Getting the cheapest heat exchanger is not necessarily the most economical solution, a balance between these to must be made [22]. It is usually cheaper to use a smaller number of large plates, than a larger number of small plates. PHE can be inexpensive compared to other heat exchangers as the plates are only pressed together [23].

# 4.7 Sand filters

Sand filters are a technology that lets you remove solids and reduce the turbidity in water. Such filters can be used for several reasons, one of them achieving clean enough water according to regulation so it can be dispersed off. It can also be used as a step before the water undergoes further cleaning treatments. A sand filter usually functions by pumping water into the top of a tank filled with sand. The water entering is spread evenly across the top layer of sand, to avoid channeling of water. Water will then sink through the sand layers. Larger particles get stuck in between sand grains, while the surface of the sand grains can adsorb smaller particles [38]. [10] recommend using sand filters to remove larger particles so that the finer filters function more effectively.

Occasionally the sand filters will have to be cleaned to stay effective. It is done by something called backwashing. Water is now pumped into the tank from below, rising through the sand and removing the contamination. This water exits at the top of the tank where it can be disposed.

# 4.8 Carbon filters

Carbon filtering is a method that utilized chemical adsorption to remove sediments and organic compounds, among others. Activated carbon filters can be infused with metals such as magnesium dioxide to react with hazardous compounds like carbon monoxide [39, 40]. Carbon filters are most commonly used for treating water and air. A chemical bond between the surface of the carbon and the matter in the fluid occurs. Carbon is an element with a very high surface area per granule, especially activated carbon, which makes it possible for large amounts of such chemical bindings to occur [41]. Once a binding ha occurred, it is not easily reversible and may require high energy to reverse the process [42]. After a while, the number of bindings possible for each carbon granule will decrease. The carbon in the filters must be then replaced. The particle size of carbon filters can range between 50 microns to 0.5 microns [43]. Carbon filters are among the most effective filters, and work great in combination with other filters, as the last filter, removing PAH among other particles [10].

# 5 Methods

The approach and execution of how the objectives and research questions is answered are explained in this chapter. Consideration of the waste heat sources is presented, followed by an introduction of scenarios and finally, a method of calculations.

# 5.1 Selection of waste heat source

When choosing one of the waste heat sources, each waste heat was considered and compared, with possible solutions and applications. Table 5.1 shows the suggested temperatures that are needed for an application at ENK.

Application	Suggestive temperature
District heating	40 °C
Floor heating	40 °C
Snow and ice melting	40 °C
Ventilation heat	40 °C
Water to air heatfans	40 °C

Table 5.1: Suggestive temperatures for possible applications

#### 5.1.1 Heat from slag in piles

It should be possible to expand this to the other ovens as well for increased capacity. A better drainage system underneath the slag piles would also help gather more water, which in turn will increase capacity. For this to be feasible, usage for the extra heat must be in place. As the process is happening in batches, the heat gathered will fluctuate accordingly. This makes it challenging to find good use of the energy gathered, and storage of the heat energy may be necessary.

#### 5.1.2 Cooling of metal in molds

There is a lot of potential energy to be gathered at this point, and as the temperature is very high, it is suitable for many end usages. If the extracted energy could remain reasonably high temperatures, it could for example be used to heat steam, working as a supplement for the steam turbines. Another usage could be heating for both internal heating and district heating, without using low-temperature principles. An assessment of this waste heat has previously been done. In the assessment, it was stated that a solution involving water pipes must take into consideration the high temperature, to avoid the pipes expanding, and be suited for fluctuating temperatures. Even though the energy potential here is excellent, the assessment also concluded that it was not feasible without a proper end-use. Another way of extracting the heat is by using a fan, which directs the hot air above the molds towards water pipes in a set direction. For instance, into a ventilation duct, leading to a heat exchanger. Similar to the slag piles, the heat energy from this step is fluctuating.

# 5.1.3 Cooling of metal on floor in oven hall

This waste heat source suffers from the same issues as the previous sources, alternating temperatures. Water pipes in the floor might absorb some heat, but the heat absorbed will only focus at one spot at a time. Dividing the floor into several areas may be possible, as water can be circulated in the area where the metal is dissipating the most heat.

# 5.1.4 Dust filtered exhaust-air from smoke cleaning facility

While the flow is excellent, the temperatures of this waste heat are minuscule, limiting possible applications. Airflow in the ventilation duct is fluctuating as its purpose is to remove dusty air from ovens and molds. Therefore, the waste heat source is inadequate in most cases without installations of heat pumps and such.

# 5.1.5 Oven gas before scrubbers in the cleaning facility

As the gas from the ovens contains a mixture of different gases and a lot of particles, it might be challenging to utilize it. This is partly due to maintenance, but also because carbon monoxide is a poisonous gas. Cleaning of the gas through the scrubbers makes it easier, however, that also removes a lot of the heat energy. If heat energy is extracted and utilized at this point, heat energy will be decreased for a lot of the following steps of the process, reducing their potential of utilization.

# 5.1.6 Sludge water from cleaning of the oven gas

A heat exchanger was installed after PAH sand filters at some point but was removed because maintenance turned out to be necessary 1-2 times a week. The water after the coal filters is cleaner and should be easier to utilize, although the flow is way less. Note that if heat energy is extracted from the oven gas, the potential in this step will reduce. After the coal filters, the water only has a temperature of 53°C, limiting the possible uses. Snow and ice melting is a nice usage for this kind of heat along with floor heating and low temperature based district heating. If more coal filters could be installed after the PAH filters, more heat energy could be utilized.

# 5.1.7 Smoke gas from combustion in gas boiler

Smoke gas might be a great source of waste heat, because of the high temperature, it can be applicable for a wider variety of purposes. It is, however, containing some dangerous gases, which may lead to maintenance and expensive equipment. Further utilization of the heat will result in the steam to condense into water. Condensation in itself is a great deal of energy released, however, for such a gas combination, acidic dew point must be taken into consideration, and more expensive materials may be required.

# 5.1.8 Flush water tapped from gas boiler

Even though the potential heat energy is lower than other waste heat sources, the water is rather clean, making it easier to utilize from a maintenance perspective. It might not be enough to supply systems solely, but it can supplement the total capacity. It was at some point used as a supplement for district heating, however, the water contained salts that damaged the pipes. A change in how the system is operated now should have removed this problem. Some of the pipes for district heating are still in place, and it should be possible to start utilizing this source again.

### 5.1.9 Conclusion of the waste heat source selection

A reoccurring problem for many of the WH sources is to find proper end usage. Even though high temperatures may be recovered, it is not feasible to invest in such solutions without anyone or any system needing it. As some of these processes are happening in batches, a solution to continuously deliver a set amount of flow and temperature would have to be made. Water storage in an accumulation tank, set to hold a specific temperature might be a possible solution. It might be necessary with an electric-boiler to keep the temperature up. Such a solution primarily revolves around the cooling of metal and slag, which are happening at fixed periods.

The most promising waste heat source seems to be sludge water from the cleaning of the oven gas after it has been through the carbon filtering process. The water does not have as large temperature as the other sources but is reasonably clean. The flush water tapped from the gas boiler is also clean, and on top of that even hotter. However, the volume flow of this is much lower than that of sludge water. The process can predictably deliver constant heat energy, and as it is a liquid use in a heat exchanger is reasonably straightforward. Filtered sludge water is, therefore, further looked into in this report.

# 5.2 Waste heat utilization

There are mainly two areas where heat energy can be conveniently utilized at ENK, indoor heating and snow/ice melting. Roughly demands of each application are known. To determine what is possible to achieve, four scenarios will be investigated. The demand of the scenarios can be seen in Table 5.2.

Scenario 1: Indoor heating - 150kW Scenario 1 will solely cover the current indoor heating demand. Filtered sludge water does not have a high temperature, and thus the indoor heating will be based on low temperature solutions, such as floor heating. The required temperature for this scenario is therefore 40 °C, with a  $\Delta 5$  °C difference between supply and return water [44, 45]. In many areas, pipes have already been installed and just need a source of hot water to be operated.

Scenario 2: Snow/ice melting - 220kW Scenario 2 will cover the necessary heat for keeping outside areas deemed essential such as walk paths and gates. Temperatures for supply and return water in a snow/ice melting application are 40 °C and  $\Delta$  15 °C, respectively [46]. Pipes in most desired areas are already in place.

Scenario 3: Both indoor heating and snow/ice melting - 370kW The third scenario examines the possibility to cover both indoor heating and snow/ice melting at the same time. Both applications can function with the same supply temperature, 40 °C. Return temperature will be a mix of the two.

Scenario 4: Possibility of a larger demand - 600kW Scenario 4 explores the possibility of covering a higher demand than what is currently required for the proposed applications. Supply temperature will still be 40 °C, as a higher temperature than this is difficult to achieve from the filtered sludge water.

	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	Scenario 4
Heat demand $[kW]$	150	220	370	600

Table 5.2: Heat demand scenarios 1-4

Covering district heating is a viable solution as well, expanding its current supply, or replace the existing solution in place. The system in place is a low temperature based district heating, with a supply temperature little above 40 °C. Currently, the district heating averagely supplies a capacity of 140 kW. However, a peak value of 300 kW can be expected in the coldest months. These values correspond approximately with scenario 1 and 3, which opens up for the possibility to change the application if needed.

For each scenario, four different sized heat exchangers will be tested, which should give a good indication of what size is needed, and what is possible to achieve. Consideration of which scenario is the most feasible will be done. Thereafter the most beneficial scenario and its associated heat exchanger to invest in can be concluded.

# 5.3 Sludge water from cleaning of oven gas

For the application, a PHE is chosen. This is because it has a great design to handle conditions where fouling can be an issue, which is a central concern at ENK. PHE is also great at handling low temperatures, which is the situation with the filtered sludge water. When designing a PHE, an approach method is visualized in Figure 5.1. The approach is based on a similar design method explained in [19].



Figure 5.1: Design method PHE flow chart

When designing a PHE, calculations for both fluids must be done. In this report, the following will be the case:

**Fluid 1** is the filtered sludge water, the waste heat source being utilized. This is the fluid that will transfer heat.

**Fluid 2** Water from the nearby river Kvina will be referred to as Fluid 2, and the fluid receiving the heat energy. This water is used as process water at the factory.

Some assumptions were made to make the calculations more manageable. The assumptions should not have a significant impact on the results.

- Physical properties of fluids are constant. This assumes that specific heat capacity, density and viscosity remain the same throughout the process.
- No heat loss to the surroundings.
- All heat transfer is perpendicular. This applies to both the fluids and the material.

#### 5.3.1 Heat transfer

For each scenario, there is a different heat demand. Rearranging Equation 4.1, the outlet temperature of fluid 1 can be found, which is the filtered sludge water. While the volume flow is known, the mass flow is not. Neither is the SHC and density. Even after going through sand and carbon filtering, the remaining sludge water will still contain some impurities. The altered SHC and density of the fluid are therefore required to be found. As measurements of the stream were not possible, roughly calculations with appropriate assumptions were done instead.

Contents of fluid 1 were based on a few samples from the water after carbon filtering, giving element concentrations in the water. The amount of elements of each sample was varying quite a lot, so an average of the three samples was set as a standard. The samples were given in mg/Land  $\mu g/L$ . As there were many different elements in the water, only the elements containing more than 0,1 mg/L were considered to have a noticeable effect on the fluid properties. The volume fraction of each element,  $\Phi$ , was found with Equation 5.1, where m is the mass of the element [kg].

$$\Phi = \frac{m}{\rho} \tag{5.1}$$

Determining properties like SHC, density, and temperature of a fluid Equation 5.2, the rule of mixtures can be used.  $C_p$  value can be swapped with either density or temperature, depending on the desired outcome. It can be used for any number of compounds [47]. SHC changes with the temperature, although the change is minimal because of the low temperature differences that are operated. A calculation was done, taking into consideration the SHC temperature change. The change was minuscule, and thus, the SHC is considered to be constant for both fluids. Tables can be found for most common gases and substances, giving different values at different temperatures [48, 49, 50]. The mass flow was calculated when density was determined, Equation 5.3, where  $\dot{V}$  is the volume flow  $[m^3/h]$ .

$$C_{ptot} = C_{p1} \cdot \frac{m_1}{m_{tot}} + C_{p2} \cdot \frac{m_2}{m_{tot}} + \dots + C_{pn} \cdot \frac{m_n}{m_{tot}}$$
(5.2)

$$\dot{m} = \dot{V} \cdot \rho \tag{5.3}$$

#### 5.3.2 Logarithmic mean temperature

The next step in the approach method is to determine the LMTD. Temperatures of both fluids must then be settled. The second fluid is process water at the factory, which is taken from the nearby river, and will be referred to as fluid 2. The outlet temperature of fluid 2 needs to be at least the temperature of the required application. Inlet temperature will vary depending on the scenario. For floor heating, scenario 1, supply temperature is 40 °C, with a return temperature of 5 °C lower [44, 45]. For scenario 2, snow/ice melting, supply temperature is as well 40 °C but with a return temperature of 15 °C lower [46]. Scenario 3, where both floor heating and snow/ice melting are included, supply temperature will still be 40 °C, but return temperature will be a mix of the two. The inlet temperature will then be found by the rule of mixture, Equation 5.2. The same goes for scenario 4.

Once temperatures of both fluids are settled, LMTD is calculated by Equation 4.5. Heat exchangers in this report will be counter-flow. The LMTD must be altered by the correction factor. For a PHE, the correction factor is found by Figure 4.5 and Equation 4.8. If the number of plates exceeds 40, the correction factor can be neglected [32]. The mass flow of fluid 2 can also be calculated once the fluid temperature is determined, Equation 4.1. The number of passes was set to 1 for all scenarios and configurations.

#### 5.3.3 Heat transfer Area

First time calculating the required HTA with Equation 4.2, both U and A are unknown. A preliminary U is therefore used. Typical u-values for different applications and heat exchangers can be found in tables [34, 51]. Liquid to liquid PHE commonly has a U-value between 1000 - 4000  $W/(m^2 \cdot K)$ .

#### 5.3.4 Number of plates

When determining the necessary number of plates, it is required to know the characteristics of the PHE. How many passes will the fluid have, plate material, dimensions of the plate, length and width, and the spacing between the plates. For this report, four sizes of heat exchangers will be compared to determine which fit best for each scenario. Table 5.3 shows the dimensions of the four heat exchanger sizes that are tested. The parameters are visualized in Figure 5.2. In the figure  $\beta$  is the chevron plat angle [°]. Chevron plates with an angle of 30° and 1 mm plate thickness were used for all heat exchangers. A thinner plate thickness will result in better OHTC. Plate thickness is set to 1 mm for all heat exchangers.

	Size 1	Size 2	Size 3	Size 4
Length - Lp $[m]$	0,42	0,74	1,04	1,61
Width - Wp $[m]$	0,11	0,33	0,36	0,47
Port distance vertical - Lv $[m]$	0,45	0,83	1,16	1,78
Port distance horizontal - Lh $[m]$	0,08	0,24	0,24	0,30
Port diameter - Dp $[m]$	0,035	0,091	0,116	0,171

Table 5.3: Heat exchanger plate dimensions



Figure 5.2: Parameters of a chevron plate [23]

The number of plates,  $N_p$ , is calculated by Equation 5.4, where A is the necessary HTA  $[m^2]$ , and  $A_p$  is the area of one plate  $[m^2]$ . The number of plates is always rounded up to the closest whole number.

$$N_p = \frac{A}{A_p} \tag{5.4}$$

The number of channels can be calculated straight afterward. If the number of plates is odd, there will be just as many channels with cold fluid as hot fluid, and the amounts of channels can be calculated by Equation 5.5, where  $N_c$  is the number of channels. It is usually cheaper to use a smaller number of large plates, than a larger number of small plates.

$$N_c = \frac{N_p - 1}{2} \tag{5.5}$$

If the number of plates is even, the number of channels is calculated by Equation 5.6 for hot fluid and Equation 5.7 for cold fluid.

$$N_{ch} = \frac{N_p - 2}{2} + 1 \tag{5.6}$$

$$N_{cc} = \frac{N_p - 2}{2}$$
(5.7)

#### 5.3.5 Reynolds and Prandtl numbers

To find OHTC, CHTC must be found first, and therefore, flow characteristics are to be calculated. The width of channels affects the flow characteristics and must be settled. Plate gaps from 1,5mm to 4mm with 0,5mm incrementations was investigated. The goal was to find a suitable plate spacing for each size and scenario combination, maintaining a high heat transfer rate and velocity without having too much pressure drop. Flow characteristics are then calculated with dimensionless numbers. Reynolds number is calculated with Equation 4.9. In this formula,  $d_h$ is the hydraulic diameter [m], which for a rectangular duct is calculated by Equation 5.8, where s is the plate spacing [m], and  $W_p$  is the plate width [m].

$$d_h = \frac{2 \cdot W_p \cdot s}{W_p + s} \tag{5.8}$$

However, to be able to do the Reynolds calculations, the fluids viscosity must be found. As both fluids were mixtures of different components, a simple value could not be found in a table but had to be calculated, similar to the SHC and density. Fluid viscosity can be done with Einstein's viscosity equation, Equation 5.9. For small concentrations of particles,  $\Phi < 0,02$ , it gives satisfactory results for this report [11].  $\mu_{mix}$  is the fluid viscosity of the mixture, while  $\mu_f$ is the viscosity of the fluid containing particles, which is, in this case, water. The viscosity of water was calculated at the bulk mean temperature of the fluids.

$$\mu_{mix} = \mu_f \cdot (1 + 2, 5 \cdot \Phi) \tag{5.9}$$

Velocity in each channel  $u_c$  is calculated by Equation 5.10.  $\dot{m}$  is the total mass flow [kg/s]. Cross-section of the channel is  $d_c$   $[m^2]$ ,  $\rho$  is the density  $[kg/m^3]$ , and  $N_c$  is the number of channels. Higher velocities give higher pressure drops. Finding a balance between acceptable pressure drop and velocity is key to a good heat exchanger. Typically velocities may be between 0,3 and 0,9 m/s, which is used as guiding limits in the calculations [36]. Reynolds can now be calculated.

$$u_c = \frac{\dot{m}}{\rho \cdot d_c \cdot N_c} \tag{5.10}$$

Further on, the Prandtl number is to be found, Equation 4.10. Therefore, the fluids thermal conductivity must be calculated with the Maxwell thermal conductivity equation, Equation 5.11 [15, 52]. Where  $k_{mix}$  is the conductivity for the mixture  $[W/m \cdot K]$ ,  $k_p$  the conductivity of the particles  $[W/m \cdot K]$ ,  $k_f$  conductivity of the fluid  $[W/m \cdot K]$  and  $\Phi$  is the volume fraction of the particles.

$$k_{mix} = \left(\frac{k_p + 2 \cdot k_f + 2 \cdot (k_p - k_f) \cdot \Phi}{k_p + 2 \cdot k_f - (k_p - k_f) \cdot \Phi}\right) \cdot k_f \tag{5.11}$$

#### 5.3.6 Overall and convective heat transfer coefficient

Formulas for the nusselt number varies depending on the literature, partly due to the different corrugations patterns available for the plates. Multiple correlations were tested, and Equation 5.12 was reoccurring in several articles and took into consideration plate design. Therefore it will be the one used for further calculations in this report.  $\mu_w$  is the fluid viscosity at wall temperature  $[kg/m \cdot s]$ .  $C_h$  and n are constants that depend on the Reynolds number and chevron angle, given in Figure 4.7. Chevron angle in the calculations was set to 30°. For simplicity,  $\mu_w$ is assumed to be the mean temperature between the mean temperature of both fluids. When the nusselt number is found, Equation 4.11 can be rearranged to find CHTC.

$$Nu = C_h \cdot Re^n \cdot Pr^{1/3} \cdot (\frac{\mu}{\mu_w})^{0.17}$$
(5.12)

OHTC is calculated by Equation 5.13.  $h_1$  and  $h_2$  are the CHTC for fluid 1 and 2  $[W/(m^2 \cdot K)]$ ,  $t_p$  is the thickness of the plate [m],  $k_p$  is the thermal conductivity of the plate  $[W/(m \cdot K)]$ , and  $R_{f1}$  and  $R_{f2}$  are the fouling resistances for the fluids  $[(m^2 \cdot K)/W]$ . With the available information and calculations made for the fluid properties, the fluids seem quite similar, and fouling resistance to that of river water is used for both of them. [53].

$$U = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{h_1 + \frac{t_p}{k_p} + \frac{1}{h_2} + R_{f1} + R_{f2}}}$$
(5.13)

Plate material chosen for the PHE is titanium, which has a thermal conductivity of 24,5  $W/m \cdot K$  [48]. This material is non-corrosive, and should, therefore, reduce fouling by corrosion. The thickness of the plate is set to 1 mm for the calculations. Thickness of the plate impacts the OHTC. The lower the thickness is, the higher the OHTC.

When all calculations are completed, the final U-value is compared to the estimated one, Equation 5.14.  $U_{est}$  is the estimated OHTC, while  $U_0$  is the calculated one. All calculations up to this point must be repeated if the calculated and estimated value is diverting too much. For the calculations, a difference of less than 5% was desired.

$$\frac{U_0 - U_{est}}{U_0} \tag{5.14}$$

#### 5.3.7 Pressure drop

The pressure drop across channels  $\Delta P_c$  and pressure drop across the ports in the distribution pipes  $\Delta P_p$  make up the main contributors to pressure drop in a PHE. The total pressure drop is calculated by 5.15 [Pa].  $\Delta P_c$  is the channel pressure drop [Pa], and  $\Delta P_p$  is the port pressure drop [Pa].  $\Delta P_c$  is found by Equation 5.16. f is the friction factor,  $L_v$  is the vertical distance between the ports [m],  $G_c$  is the fluid mass velocity in the channel [ $kg/(m^2 \cdot s)$ ],  $N_{pa}$  is the number of passes and  $\mu_w$  is the viscosity at wall temperature [kg/ms].

$$\Delta P_t = \Delta P_c + \Delta P_p \tag{5.15}$$

$$\Delta P_c = 4 \cdot f \cdot \frac{L_v \cdot N_{pa}}{d_e} \cdot \frac{G_c^2}{2 \cdot \rho} \cdot (\frac{\mu}{\mu_w})^{-0.17}$$
(5.16)

Different methods for determining friction factor, f, is varying in literature. Equation 5.17, which is the mulley correlation, is the one [21] recommends and will be used in this report.

$$f = \left(\frac{\beta}{30}\right)^{0,83} \cdot \left[\left(\frac{30,2}{Re}\right)^5 + \left(\frac{6,28}{Re^{0,5}}\right)^5\right]$$
(5.17)

In a PHE, the pressure drop across all channels is similar, and calculations for one of them are sufficient. This is because a stream goes to the path of least resistance, least pressure required. If several parallel paths need different pressure, the stream will only be able to flow through the path where the pressure drop is less than the available pressure. If several parallel paths require the same pressure, the stream will be able to flow through all paths simultaneously, distributed evenly between them. Pressure drop through the ports is calculated by Equation 5.18. Where  $N_{pa}$  represents the number of passes, and  $G_p$  is the mass velocity of the fluid through the ports  $[kg/(m^2 \cdot s)]$ .  $G_p$  is calculated by Equation 5.19.  $D_p$  is the port diameter [m], and  $\dot{m}$  is the total mass flow through the channels [kg/s]. The pressure drop across the ports is recommended to be less than 10% of the total pressure drop, although it may be up to 30% [54, 23, 37].

$$\Delta P_p = 1, 4 \cdot N_{pa} \cdot \left(\frac{G_p^2}{2 \cdot \rho}\right) \tag{5.18}$$

$$G_p = \frac{\dot{m}}{\pi \cdot \frac{D_p^2}{4}} \tag{5.19}$$

# 6 Results and Discussion

The results are presented and discussed in this chapter. First results concerning the fluid properties and capabilities are presented. Then each scenario is gone through before they are all compared in the end.

# 6.1 Sludge water from cleaning of oven gas

#### 6.1.1 Fluid properties

When comparing the river water to the filtered sludge water, most of the element concentrations are quite similar. Table 6.1 shows the concentration ratio of some elements between the fluids. The table only shows the ratios of the elements that have more than 0,1 mg/L. It is clear that for some metallic elements such as magnesium and potassium, the values have increased quite a bit. However, there was only one sample measurement of the process water and three of the filtered sludge water. Among the few filtered sludge water samples, values of some elements varied by three times the amount. The same would most likely be the case for the river water. An increase of element concentration in fluid 1 is still apparent.

Element	Ratio (Fluid1/Fluid2)
Ca (Calcium)	0,92
Cu (Copper)	2,20
Fe (Iron)	1,02
K (Potassium)	6,43
Mg (Magnesium)	7,82
Mn (Manganese)	1,78
Na (Sodium)	3,38

Table 6.1: Ratio of element concentration fluid1/fluid2

When designing a PHE, it is essential to know the properties of the fluids that are to be used. The characteristics of the fluids are paramount to the PHE operation, both in terms of heat transfer rate and maintenance. Thus the properties of fluid 1 and fluid 2 have been calculated and shown in Table 6.2, where  $\Phi$  is the total volume fraction. For fluid 1, there is only a small change in most of the fluid properties, compared to pure water. Density, viscosity, mass flow,

and thermal conductivity have all been slightly increased. The minuscule change can be due to the volume fraction of the elements were only 0.6% in total. SHC has, on the other hand, decreased, but these values are also similar to water. The properties of fluid 2 are pretty much the same as clean water. The elements in the water are only 0.1% compared to 0.6% in fluid 1. For these fluids, it seems the volume fraction of elements is too small to noticeably increase the thermal conductivity, compared to nanofluids, where the volume fraction might be 5% [14]. Mass flow of fluid 2 is not shown in this table, as this value will change depending on the heat demand.

Properties	Fluid 1	Fluid 2	Unit
$\Phi$ elements	0,621	0,111	%
Density	996,28	$996,\!89$	$kg/m^3$
Viscosity	0,000797	0,000787	$kg/(m\cdot s)$
Thermal conductivity	0,611	0,602	$W/(m \cdot K)$
SHC	4,165	4,182	$kJ/(kg\cdot K)$
Mass flow	6,365	-	kg/s

Table 6.2: Fluid 1 properties

With the use of Maxwell thermal conductivity equation, Equation 5.11, the conductivity value resulted in barely above the thermal conductivity of water, for both fluid 1 and 2. The small increase is likely due to the low particle concentration of the elements, even though they have a significantly higher thermal conductivity. Although theoretical calculations have proved to underestimate the measured thermal conductivity, the calculated value of conductivity will be used, as the change in thermal conductivity was small [15, 13].

# 6.1.2 Energy potential filtered sludge water

In Table 6.3, energy potential, Q, in the filtered sludge water is calculated, Equation 4.1. In the calculation, the water temperature is decreased from the inlet temperature of 53 °C to that of seawater, 6 °C, to see the fluid stream's maximum potential. As shown in the table, the energy potential is calculated to 1246kW. This is twice the value that is needed for scenario 4, which was 600kW.

Properties	Value	Unit
Mass Flow	6,365	kg/(s)
$\Delta$ T	47	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
SHC	4,165	$kJ/(kg\cdot K)$
Q	1246	kW

Table 6.3: Energy potential filtered sludge water

### 6.1.3 Fluid temperatures

Table 6.4 shows the inlet and outlet temperatures of the fluids for the four demand scenarios. For the first two scenarios, the outlet temperature of fluid 1 is not much smaller than the inlet temperature, 53 °C. However, for the last two, a more significant difference can be seen as the demand is noticeable higher. The outlet temperature of fluid 2, the stream going out to the application, is 40 °C for all scenarios. Inlet temperatures depend on the heat loss in the given applications, Equation 5.2.

	Fluid 1 inlet	Fluid 1 outlet	Fluid 2 inlet	Fluid 2 outlet
Scenario $1$	$53~^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	47,34 °C	35,00 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	40,00 °C
Scenario $2$	$53~^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	44,70 °C	25,00 °C	40,00 °C
Scenario 3	53 °C	39,03 °C	31,72 °C	40,00 °C
Scenario 4	53 °C	30,35 °C	29,31 °C	40,00 °C

Table 6.4: Inlet and outlet temperatures for the fluids

To have a proper heat transfer between the fluids, the outlet temperature of fluid 1 must be higher than the inlet temperature of fluid 2. For scenario 1, 2, and 3, this is the case. However, for scenario 4, the outlet temperature of fluid 1 is barely above the inlet temperature of fluid 2. The small difference means that, at that part of the heat exchanger, almost no heat is transferred between the fluid. Figure 6.1a, Figure 6.1b, Figure 6.2a, and Figure 6.2b shows the temperature development in the heat exchanger for scenario 1-4. As these are counter-flow heat exchangers, position 1 is the inlet of fluid 1 and outlet of fluid 2. Position 2 is the outlet of fluid 1 and inlet of fluid 2. It is clear that in scenario 4, the heat transfer effect at one end of the heat exchanger is minuscule. Thus it is not reasonable to get the desired heat transfer without requiring colossal heat exchangers.



(a) Temperature development scenario 1



Figure 6.1: Temperature development scenario 1 and 2



Figure 6.2: Temperature development scenario 3 and 4

The temperature development is reflected in the LMTD for the scenarios, Table 6.5, shows that scenario 4 has a LMTD value of just 4,6 °C. Except for scenario 4, the LMTD is pretty even for the other scenarios. Although scenario 3 has twice as high LMTD as scenario 4, it is quite low. Scenario 2 has the largest LMTD, due to snow/ice melting having a much lower return temperature than the other scenarios,  $\Delta 15$  °C. The low LMTD indicates that heat exchangers for those scenarios might be undesirable large. Correction factor F is rather stable for all configurations, varying between 0,97 and 0,99. Therefore it does not have too much impact on the LMTD, which is expected for a single pass counter-flow PHE.

LMTDMass flow fluid 2Scenario 1 $12,54 \degree C$ 7,17 kg/sScenario 2 $15,79 \degree C$ 3,51 kg/sScenario 3 $9,69 \degree C$ 10,68 kg/sScenario 4 $4,60 \degree C$ 13,42 kg/s

Table 6.5: Energy potential filtered sludge water

A direct result of the LMTD is the mass flow of fluid 2. In Table 6.5, it is seen that the larger the LMTD, the smaller the required fluid 2 mass flow. When the mass flow of both fluids are more or less the same, equal plate gaps can be installed without concerns of one of the fluid having drastically larger velocities and pressure drop than the other. However, for scenario 2, the mass flow of fluid 2 roughly half to that of fluid 1, which is 6,37 kg/s. For scenario 4, the opposite is the case, where fluid 2 has approximately double the mass flow to that of fluid 1. Instead of alternating plate gaps for fluid 1 and fluid 2, scenario 2 can lower the mass flow of fluid 1, although this would result in a larger HTA.



# 6.2 Scenario 1 selection

When going through the results for scenario 1, all four heat exchanger sizes were tested with plate gaps from 1,5-4 mm. A plate gap could then be found while still maintaining velocities, pressure drop, etc. within their desired values. This procedure was done for each scenario.

#### 6.2.1 Required heat transfer area

In Figure 6.3, the required HTA is compared for the different heat exchanger sizes and plate gaps. The heat exchanger sizes can be found in Table 5.3. The HTA differences were rather small, and in most cases, the area varied roughly from 10  $m^2$  to 12  $m^2$ . It is seen that the size 1 heat exchanger required the highest HTA. When the heat exchanger got larger, the HTA decreased.



Figure 6.3: Required surface area scenario 1

#### 6.2.2 Number of plates

Figure 6.4 shows the number of plates for scenario 1 heat exchangers. It clearly shows that there is a significant increase in the number of plates, the smaller the heat exchanger. The rise in plate number is especially seen in the case for the size 1 heat exchanger, where the number of plates is above 200 for all plate gaps. Due to the big difference, the graph is limited to show a maximum of 75 plates. Even though the required HTA was not that different, the plate size difference significantly impacted the number of plates. The other heat exchanger sizes have roughly the same amount of plates regardless of the plate gaps. It is clear that the size 1 heat exchanger may not be suitable for this scenario. On the other hand, the size 4 heat exchanger has very few plates, with very little change when the plate gap increases, only in the range of 12-14 plates. It might indicate that it is most likely too large, leaving an unnecessarily large footprint.



Figure 6.4: Number of plates for scenario 1

# 6.2.3 Overall heat transfer coefficient

OHTC is compared in Figure 6.5. The majority of OHTC has a value in the range of 1000 to  $1200 W/(m^2K)$ . Reducing the plate thickness will increase the OHTC considerably. The results show that OHTC is always the largest for size 4 for similar plate gaps. The larger the plate size, the fewer plates are needed to reach the necessary heat transfer surface area, which means the same amount of fluid needs to be divided on fewer channels. Fewer channels, higher velocities. When the velocity increases, so do the turbulence, which gives a higher OHTC. It also shows that the small plate gaps provide the best OHTC, which is for the same reason, tighter channels, higher velocities. Typical OHTC values for liquid/liquid PHE are 1000-4000  $W/(m^2K)$ , so in general, the heat exchangers configurations are performing in the lower end of the spectrum.



Figure 6.5: Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 1



#### 6.2.4 Velocities

Velocities for fluid 1 and 2 are presented in Figure 6.6 and Figure 6.7, respectively. In the figures, max and min limit for the velocities has been set to 0,9 and 0,3 m/s to maintain high turbulence and avoiding high pressure drop [36]. Velocity profiles for the two fluids are quite similar, with slightly higher values for fluid 2. Yet again, the size 1 heat exchanger performs poorly, with almost all velocities below the desired 0,3 m/s for both fluid flows. Although the velocities were low for this size, the Reynolds number was still above the threshold to keep the fluid turbulent. The low velocities are a result of the high amount of plates that the size 1 heat exchanger required. The graph reveals that the velocity changes quite a bit, depending on the plate gaps. Size 3 of the heat exchangers seems to perform well for all plate gaps in this scenario. Size 2 needs small plate gaps, and size 4 needs bigger plate gaps to be within the desired values. High velocities in itself are not necessarily bad, but it may cause problems as it results in a rise in pressure drop.



Figure 6.6: Velocities fluid 1



Figure 6.7: Velocities fluid 2

# 6.2.5 Pressure drop

The total pressure drop for fluid 1 can be seen in Figure 6.8, and for fluid 2 in Figure 6.9. The maximum limit in the figure is 1 *bar* to avoid the use of large pumps. Pressure drop for the size 4 heat exchanger, with a 1,5 *mm* plate gap, exceeded the desired 1 bar pressure drop for both fluids, with values of 1,76 *bar* and 3 *bar*, respectively. The graph is limited to 1,1 bar to enhance the variations of the other heat exchangers. All other cases are comfortably below the 1 *bar* limit, although fluid 2 is quite close for a 2 *mm* plate gap. For the size 1 heat exchanger, the pressure drop development is pretty stable. The other sizes have a more noticeable decrease of pressure drop as the plate gap increases. For this scenario, most heat exchangers deliver within the given parameters for most of the cases.



Figure 6.8: Total pressure drop fluid 1



Figure 6.9: Total Pressure drop fluid 2



Finally, the pressure drop across the ports relative to the total pressure drop can be seen in Figure 6.10 and Figure 6.11. There are two limits in this graph, one for 10% and one for 30%. Ideally, this should be as low as possible, but may be up to 30% in some cases [23]. For the size 1 heat exchanger, the value is way too high, close to 100% of the pressure drop. Although this is not the desired value, it actually doesn't matter too much, as the total pressure drop is still lower than the recommended on those cases. However, it may indicate that the dimensions of the heat exchanger are not suitable. Because of the high ratio for heat exchanger 1, the graph is limited to 45%. Looking at size 2, the value is quite frankly higher than desired, but at the same time, the total pressure drop is minuscule, which then means that the pressure drop over the ports also will be low, even though it is higher than that of the channel pressure drop. For the size 3 and 4 heat exchangers, the ratio is below 10% for all plate gaps. Thus this graph generally only needs to be taken into consideration if the total pressure drop is close to the maximum desired pressure drop.



Figure 6.10: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1



Figure 6.11: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2

## 6.2.6 Selection

Summing it all up, both size 2 and 3 heat exchangers have several plate gap options that fit this scenario well. Size 2 will have possible plate gaps for 1,5 - 3 mm. However, when getting close to a 3 mm plate gap, the port pressure drop is between 10-30 % of the total pressure drop. The total pressure drop for those configurations is really low, so it is not an issue. To avoid clogging of the pipes, 2 mm or 2,5 mm plate gaps seem best for this size. Velocities are still satisfactory high, above 0,4 m/s for both fluids. For the size 3 heat exchanger, all plate gaps are viable. Even with the velocities over the recommended 0,9 m/s, the total pressure drop is still below the desired limit. When considering the risk of fouling in narrow channels, 2-3,5 mm plate gaps could be excellent options for this heat exchanger. There are also some viable configurations for the size 4 heat exchanger in this scenario. When the plate gaps are larger than 2 mm, the pressure drop is below the desired limit of 1 bar. Velocities are overall quite high even for large plate gaps, due to the few channels. However, this heat exchanger may give an unnecessary large footprint while still having the same performance as the smaller sizes. A high amount of plates and low channel velocities makes the size 1 heat exchanger unsuited for this scenario. The possible heat exchangers for this scenario is as follows:

- Size 2 Plate gap: 2 2,5 mm
- Size 3 Plate gap: 2 3,5 mm
- Size 4 Plate gap: 2,5 4 mm

# 6.3 Scenario 2 selection

Graphs for scenario 2 can be found in Appendix A.1. Heat exchanger 1 has the same problems for this scenario, as it did for scenario 1. Size 2 is starting to struggle with low velocities as well, especially on fluid 2 side. Fluid 2 in this scenario has half the mass flow of fluid 1, and the velocities are consequently much lower if no concerns to varying the plate spacing are being taken. This is reflected in the velocity profiles for the fluids, roughly half the velocities for fluid 2. A plate gap of 1,5 mm does have velocities that are above the 0,3 m/s limit. However, as the plate gap is narrow, there is a higher risk of clogging. Size 3 is marginally better, with a plate gap of up to 2,5 mm can be accepted without the velocities being too low. Neither of these two exchangers is subjected to high pressure drops. Heat exchanger 4 surpasses the 1 bar limit with a pressure drop of 1,4 bar when the plate gap is 1,5 mm. Plate gaps of 2-3 mm, however, have great performances. Possible heat exchanges for this scenario is as follows:

- Size 3 Plate gap: 2 2,5mm
- Size 4 Plate gap: 2 3 mm



# 6.4 Scenario 3 selection

Graphs for scenario 3 can be found in Appendix A.2. The OHTC value is starting to drop in this scenario compared to the others. LMTD is also lower, which of course, lowers the effectiveness. Comparing the development from scenarios 1 to 2, it does not surprisingly indicate that the larger the demand, the larger the necessary heat exchanger. When the two scenarios' heat demand is combined, the development continues, and as a result, both size 1 and 2 heat exchangers struggle with both high plate numbers and low velocities. The size 3 heat exchanger performs slightly better but needs narrow plate gaps to keep the velocity at acceptable levels. Even then, it is only barely above the 0,3 m/s limit. The size 4 heat exchanger is not performing that much better. A maximum plate gap of 2,5 mm can be used, but then fluid 1 velocities are a little below the comfortable limit. Thus the 2mm plate gap for this exchanger is suitable for the application. It is observed that for scenarios 1 and 2, the recommended heat exchanger in this scenario is 42, so it seems that this is a reoccurring trend. Simultaneously the OHTC for the recommended heat exchanger configurations has been at around  $1100 W/m^2K$ . Possible heat exchanges for this scenario is as follows:

• Size 4 - Plate gap: 2 mm

# 6.5 Scenario 4 selection

Graphs for scenario 4 can be found in Appendix A.3. For scenario 4, none of the selected sizes is a suitable fit, as none of them are large enough. There has been an increase in heat exchanger size for each scenario, and scenario 4 has a considerably higher heat demand than in scenario 3, with 600 kW compared to 370 kW. This reflects in the values of scenario 4. Where in scenario 1 and 2 required HTA has been around 10-13  $m^2$ , and scenario 3 with 35  $m^2$ , scenario 4 have easily 4-6 times the amount of scenario 3. A considerably larger heat exchanger is therefore needed to be able to keep velocities up and plate numbers down. This is ultimately due to the low temperature and mass flow of fluid 1. As it stands in the calculations, the LMTD is a merely 4,6 °C, compared to 10-15 °C for the other scenarios. Increasing the inlet temperature for fluid 1 from 53 to 60 °C, the required HTA is reduced to 1/3, size 4 plate gap 2mm. Thus it does not seem like a viable option to extract much more than what is needed for the combination of floor heating and snow/ice melting from this waste heat source. Calculations for a larger heat exchanger were therefore not done.

# 6.6 Scenario comparison

From the results presented, it is possible to utilize the waste heat sludge water from the cleaning of the oven gas, although both the temperature and mass flow is quite low. Scenario 1, 2, and 3 all gave some results for possible utilization. Scenario 3 may seem to be the more favorable scenario as a more substantial portion of the waste heat is utilized. However, some situations may need to be considered. The number of days floor heating is required is much higher than the number of days snow/ice melting is necessary. Thus, if the water in the snow/ice melting circuit is not circulated through the heat exchanger simultaneously with the floor heating circuit, the mass flow drops significantly. That will result in reduced velocities for fluid 2, and consequently reduced heat transfer and a higher risk of fouling. Keeping the water circulated in the snow/ice melting circuit at all times is obviously a waste of energy as well. Energy saved from reusing the waste heat for floor heating must then cover the extra energy used for the circulation to be feasible. If the periods where snow/ice melting is predictable, a solution might be to increase/decrease the number of plates in the heat exchanger accordingly, which is one of the advantages of the PHE.

When considering usability, scenario 1 has an actual effect, where the energy needed to heat rooms is already being spent, regardless of the source of heat energy. Snow/ice melting is more of an extra benefit rather than a necessity, in addition to not being required as many days. Thus the gain and payback time for a heat exchanger for this purpose will naturally be worse than for scenario 1. Nevertheless, if there is a similar area that needs roughly the same temperature as floor heating, and has the same uptime, the waste heat source is capable of covering a demand similar to that of scenario 3. The waste heat source is also capable of supplying the district heating at a temperature of 40 °at current demand. Installation of new carbon filters could increase the heat energy gained, and more applications could be covered.

For the time being, scenario 1 is recommended to implement, with a heat exchanger comparable to one presented in Table 6.6.

Heat exchanger	Plate gap	Number of plates
Size 2	2 mm	39
Size 3	2 - 2,5 mm	26

Table 6.6: Recommended heat exchangers for scenario 1
## 7 Conclusion

In this study utilization of waste heat at ENK was considered. With the intention of reducing the amount of energy going to waste, and hopefully reduce the overall energy consumption. Low maintenance was seen as paramount when providing a method of heat recovery. Fluid characteristics were determined based on fluid samples with element concentration. Four different application scenarios were investigated. For each scenario, four different sized heat exchangers were tested, and the effect of varying plate gaps was explored.

Filtered sludge water from the cleaning of the oven gas was considered the most promising waste heat source. The determination of the filtered sludge water characteristics was based on the element concentration of a few samples. The presence of elements in the water was low, 0,6%, and did not seem to have a significant impact on the characteristics of the water, and was quite similar to the nearby river water. Due to the low temperature of 53 °C, only two applications stood out as possible to supply, floor heating, and snow/ice melting, as it was desired to avoid the use of heat pumps. A PHE was chosen for the task, as its design promotes low fouling tendencies, easy maintenance and can operate at low temperature differences.

The results from the four scenarios showed that pressure drop in the channels reduced drastically when the plate gaps increased, even for  $0.5 \ mm$  increments at a time. The pressure drop was reduced at a much higher rate than both velocities and the OHTC. Therefore the plate gap could be kept at 2-2,5 mm in most cases while keeping velocities above  $0.3 \ m/s$  and the OHTC satisfactory. This plate gap was desired to reduce the risk of clogging and rapid fouling. The optimal number of plates turned then out to be in the range of 25-45.

A comparison of the scenarios showed that the heat exchanger size grew rapidly as the demand increased. This was due to the low temperature available. Scenario 4 was discarded as the required heat exchanger size was larger than deemed necessary for its purpose. Scenario 2 and 3 were both possible to implement with reasonable heat exchanger sizes, however with little gain due to snow/ice melting is rarely needed. Among the scenarios, scenario 1, floor heating, was the scenario considered most feasible to implement, because the indoor heating is needed and frequently used regardless of it being supplied by waste heat or not. Heat exchangers similar to size 2 and 3, with plate gaps of 2-2,5 mm were recommended.



### 8 Further Research

In this study, only one of the waste heat sources were closely investigated. There are more waste heat sources at ENK then those presented here, with different potential. Some have a large mass flow but low temperature, while others have a higher temperature and little pollution, but low mass flow. As such, there can be done several small and large installations at ENK to reduce the amount of waste heat. A further assessment would have to be made for each of them to determine if its economically feasible, and to what degree it is useable.

It is entirely possible to extract heat energy from several areas at ENK. However, finding an application for the waste can be problematic, as most of the waste heat is low temperature. Creating a demand may be a solution, similar to the aquaculture that has been developed. Other solutions may be increasing the temperature with the help of heat pumps, to widen the application possibilities. A cascade solution where heat energy is combined from several places might be a possibility.

The utilization proposed in this study is based on heating during the winter. During summer, these systems are not necessary, but the waste heat is still present. Thus finding a use for this and similar energy sources in the summer can significantly reduce the heat going to waste and should be investigated. Such a solution might very well be applicable to many other companies and factories than just ENK.

The company desired a low maintenance solution. Nevertheless, maintenance must be done. What type of cleaning that is best suited for the PHE should be determined. Closer investigation to operation time and cost should be investigated as well.



## Bibliography

- [1] International Energy Agency, Tracking Industrial Energy Efficiency and CO2 Emissions.
- [2] C. Forman, I. K. Muritala, R. Pardemann, and B. Meyer, "Estimating the global waste heat potential," in *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. Elsevier Ltd, may 2016, vol. 57, pp. 1568–1579.
- [3] F. Huang, J. Zheng, J. M. Baleynaud, and J. Lu, "Heat recovery potentials and technologies in industrial zones," in *Journal of the Energy Institute*. Elsevier B.V., dec 2017, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 951–961.
- [4] A. Redko, O. Redko, and R. DiPippo, "Industrial waste heat resources," in Low-Temperature Energy Systems with Applications of Renewable Energy. Elsevier, jan 2020, pp. 329–362.
- [5] Bchoate, Ilona Johnson, and E. al, Waste Heat Recovery: Technology and Opportunities in U.S. Industry, mar 2008.
- [6] D. Vance, S. Nimbalkar, A. Thekdi, K. Armstrong, T. Wenning, J. Cresko, and M. Jin, "Estimation of and barriers to waste heat recovery from harsh environments in industrial processes," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 222, pp. 539–549, 2019.
- [7] Interreg Central Europe, "Low-grade waste heat utilization in the European Union -Interreg." [Online]. Available: https://www.interreg-central.eu/Content.Node/CE-HEAT/ Low-grade-waste-heat-utilization-in-the-European-Union.html [Accessed: 2020-03-03]
- [8] Cynthia Haddad, Christelle Péeilhon, and E. al, "Some efficient solutions to recover low and medium waste heat: competitiveness of the thermoacoustic technology," 2014.
- [9] H. Fang, J. Xia, K. Zhu, Y. Su, and Y. Jiang, "Industrial waste heat utilization for low temperature district heating," *Energy Policy*, vol. 62, pp. 236–246, nov 2013.
- [10] Y. Kalmykova, N. Moona, A. M. Strömvall, and K. Björklund, "Sorption and degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, alkylphenols, bisphenol A and phthalates in landfill leachate using sand, activated carbon and peat filters," *Water Research*, vol. 56, pp. 246–257, jun 2014.
- [11] R. Bardool, A. Bakhtyari, F. Esmaeilzadeh, and X. Wang, "Nanofluid viscosity modeling based on the friction theory," *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, vol. 286, p. 110923, jul 2019.

- [12] O. T. Komesli and C. F. Gökçay, "Investigation of sludge viscosity and its effects on the performance of a vacuum rotation membrane bioreactor," *Environmental Technology*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 645–652, mar 2014.
- [13] F. Esmaeilzadeh, A. S. Teja, and A. Bakhtyari, "The thermal conductivity, viscosity, and cloud points of bentonite nanofluids with n-pentadecane as the base fluid," *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, vol. 300, p. 112307, feb 2020.
- [14] J. A. Eastman, U. S. Choi, S. Li, L. J. Thompson, and S. Lee, "Enhanced thermal conductivity through the development of nanofluids," *Materials Research Society Symposium Proceedings*, vol. 457, pp. 3–11, 1997.
- [15] X. Wang, X. Xu, and S. U. S Choi, "Thermal Conductivity of Nanoparticle-Fluid Mixture," JOURNAL OF THERMOPHYSICS AND HEAT TRANSFER, vol. 13, no. 4, 1999.
- [16] M. Milani, L. Montorsi, and S. Terzi, "Numerical analysis of the heat recovery efficiency for the post-combustion flue gas treatment in a coffee roaster plant," *Energy*, vol. 141, pp. 729–743, dec 2017.
- [17] H. Ibrahim, "Fouling in Heat Exchangers, World's largest Science, Technology & Medicine Open Access book publisher," *INTECH*, sep 2011.
- [18] H. Kumar, "The Plate Heat Exchanger: Construction And Design," vol. 2.86, pp. 1275– 1288, 1984.
- [19] N. Rohmah, G. Pikra, A. J. Purwanto, and I. Pramana, "The effect of plate spacing in plate heat exchanger design as a condenser in organic Rankine cycle for low temperature heat source," *Energy Proceedia*, vol. 68, pp. 87–96, 2015.
- [20] H. Ambarita, K. Kishinami, M. Daimaruya, I. Tokura, H. Kawai, J. Suzuki, M. Kobiyama, and A. Ginting, "The Optimum Plate to Plate Spacing for Maximum Heat Transfer Rate from a Flat Plate Type Heat Exchanger," *Thermal Science & Engineering*, vol. 17, no. 1, 2009.
- [21] A. A. Neagu, C. I. Koncsag, A. Barbulescu, and E. Botez, "Estimation of pressure drop in gasket plate heat exchangers," *Ovidius University Annals of Chemistry*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 62–72, jun 2016.
- [22] K. Thulukkanam, Heat Exchanger Design Handbook, Second Edition Kuppan Thulukkanam
  Google Bøker, 2013.
- [23] F. A. Mota, E. Carvalho, and M. A. Ravagnani, "Modeling and Design of Plate Heat Exchanger," *Heat Transfer Studies and Applications*, jul 2015.
- [24] J. R. Lines, "Heat Exchangers in Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants," Tech. Rep.
- [25] P. M. Doran, "Bioprocess Engineering Principles," 2013, pp. 333–375.

- [26] Bright Hub Engineering, "The Shell and Tube Heat Exchanger as One of Several Types of Heat Exchangers." [Online]. Available: https://www.brighthubengineering.com/hvac/59 713-types-of-shell-and-tube-heat-exchangers/ [Accessed: 2020-03-19]
- [27] ArvengTraining, "Basics of Shell & Tube Heat Exchangers Arveng Training & Engineering," oct 2015. [Online]. Available: https://arvengtraining.com/en/basics-of-shel l-tube-heat-exchangers/ [Accessed: 2020-06-20]
- [28] Bright Hub Engineering, "The Flat Plate Heat Exchanger in Comparison with Other Types of Heat Exchangers." [Online]. Available: https://www.brighthubengineering .com/hvac/61791-features-and-characteristics-of-the-flat-plate-heat-exchanger/ [Accessed: 2020-03-19]
- [29] B. Lamb, "PLATE AND FRAME HEAT EXCHANGERS," 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.thermopedia.com/content/1035/ [Accessed: 2020-06-02]
- [30] Iloveaquero, "Plate varmeveksler: driftsprinsipp. Plate varmevekslere: enhet." [Online]. Available: https://no.ilovevaquero.com/biznes/4315-teploobmennik-plastinchatyy-princi p-raboty-teploobmenniki-plastinchatye-ustroystvo.html [Accessed: 2020-06-20]
- [31] Nuclear-power.net, "Convective Heat Transfer Coefficient." [Online]. Available: https://www.nuclear-power.net/nuclear-engineering/heat-transfer/convection-convectiv e-heat-transfer/convective-heat-transfer-coefficient/ [Accessed: 2020-03-16]
- [32] A. Soto, M. T. M. G, and J. L. Magaña, "Theoretical-Experimental Study of the Effect of the External Plates on the Thermal Performance of a Plate Heat Exchanger," *Chemical Engineering and Science, Vol. 3, 2016, Pages 12-18*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 12–18, jan 2015.
- [33] "Plate heat exchangers calculations," 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.slideshare.n et/tst34/plate-heat-exchangers-67669541 [Accessed: 2020-06-02]
- [34] "U in Heat Exchangers Heat Transfer Articles Chemical Engineering Frontpage -Cheresources.com," may 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.cheresources.com/content /articles/heat-transfer/u-in-heat-exchangers [Accessed: 2020-05-20]
- [35] S. Garcia and A. Trueba, "Fouling in Heat Exchangers," Intech, sep 2019.
- [36] B. Lamb, "PLATE AND FRAME HEAT EXCHANGERS." [Online]. Available: http://www.thermopedia.com/content/1035/ [Accessed: 2020-05-24]
- [37] S. Gavelin, "Pressure Drop," Tech. Rep., 2009.
- [38] ProAct Evoqua, "Water Treatment Using Sand Filters For Solids Removal." [Online]. Available: https://www.evoqua.com/en/brands/proact/Pages/sand-filters.aspx [Accessed: 2020-04-22]
- [39] Sarah, "Activated Carbon Filters: What They Are & How They Work," may 2014. [Online]. Available: https://learn.allergyandair.com/activated-carbon-filters/ [Accessed: 2020-04-23]

- [40] A. Mafalda Ribeiro and J. M. Loureiro, "Simulation of toxic gases and vapours removal by activated carbon filters," *Chemical Engineering Science*, vol. 57, no. 9, pp. 1621–1626, may 2002.
- [41] Steele Gary, "Activated Carbon Adsorption Mechanism Activated Carbon," apr 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.acarbons.com/activated-carbon-adsorption-mechanism/ [Accessed: 2020-04-23]
- [42] S. Kwon, M. Fan, H. F. DaCosta, A. G. Russell, K. A. Berchtold, and M. K. Dubey, "CO2 Sorption," in *Coal Gasification and Its Applications*. Elsevier, jan 2011, pp. 293–339.
- [43] T. Scherer and R. Johnson, "Filtration: Sediment, Activated Carbon and Mixed Media Publications," 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.ag.ndsu.edu/publications/environ ment-natural-resources/filtration-sediment-activated-carbon-and-mixed-media [Accessed: 2020-05-13]
- [44] Standard Norge, "NS-EN 1264," Tech. Rep., 2020.
- [45] Arjonfloor, "Teknisk håndbok Arjonfloor ®," Tech. Rep.
- [46] Arion Melt, "HÅNDBOK OG SYSTEMBESKRIVELSE ARJONMELT SNØSMELTESYS-TEM," Tech. Rep.
- [47] Thermtest Intruments, "Rule of Mixtures Calculator Find Specific Heat Capacity of a Mixture," nov 2017. [Online]. Available: https://thermtest.com/rule-of-mixtures-calcula tor [Accessed: 2020-04-16]
- [48] "Thermal Conductivity of Metals, Metallic Elements and Alloys." [Online]. Available: ht tps://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/thermal-conductivity-metals-d{\_}858.html [Accessed: 2020-06-02]
- [49] EngineeringToolbox, "Water Specific Heat," 2004. [Online]. Available: https://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/specific-heat-capacity-water-d{\_}660.html [Accessed: 2020-04-06]
- [50] Engineers Edge, "Convective Heat Transfer Convection Equation and Calculator | Engineers Edge | www.engineersedge.com." [Online]. Available: https://www.engineerse dge.com/heat{\_}transfer/convection.htm [Accessed: 2020-03-16]
- [51] "Heat Exchanger Technology: COLLECTION of Typical Overall Heat Transfer Coefficient (U-factor)," 2007. [Online]. Available: http://webwormcpt-wwhx.blogspot.com/2007/08 /collection-of-typical-overall-heat.html [Accessed: 2020-05-20]
- [52] S. Mehta, K. P. Chauhan, and S. Kanagaraj, "Modeling of thermal conductivity of nanofluids by modifying Maxwell's equation using cell model approach," *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*, vol. 13, no. 7, pp. 2791–2798, jul 2010.
- [53] Springer, "Typical fouling resistances," 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.lv-soft.de /modulehelp/en/coil/index.html{#}!WordDocuments/typicalfoulingresistances.htm [Accessed: 2020-06-03]



[54] S. Ramesh K and S. Dusan P, Fundamentals of Heat Exchanger Design - Ramesh K. Shah, Dusan P. Sekulic - Google Books, 2003.



# Appendices A | Scenarios

### A.1 Scenario 2



Figure A.1: Required surface area scenario 2



Figure A.2: Number of plates for scenario 2



Figure A.3: Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 2



Figure A.4: Velocities fluid 1 scenario 2







Figure A.6: Total pressure drop fluid 1 scenario 2



Figure A.7: Total Pressure drop fluid 2 scenario 2



Figure A.8: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1 scenario 2



Figure A.9: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2 scenario 2



### A.2 Scenario 3



Figure A.10: Required surface area scenario 3



Figure A.11: Number of plates for scenario 3



Figure A.12: Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 3



Figure A.13: Velocities fluid 1 scenario 3



Figure A.14: Velocities fluid 2 scenario 3



Figure A.15: Total pressure drop fluid 1 scenario 3



Figure A.16: Total Pressure drop fluid 2 scenario 3



Figure A.17: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1 scenario 3



Figure A.18: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2 scenario 3

### A.3 Scenario 4



Figure A.19: Required surface area scenario 4



Figure A.20: Number of plates for scenario 4



Figure A.21: Overall heat transfer coefficient for scenario 4



Figure A.22: Velocities fluid 1 scenario 4



Figure A.23: Velocities fluid 2 scenario 4



Figure A.24: Total pressure drop fluid 1 scenario 4



Figure A.25: Total Pressure drop fluid 2 scenario 4



Figure A.26: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 1 scenario 4



Figure A.27: Port pressure drop relative to total pressure drop for fluid 2 scenario 4